
SOUTHEND-ON-SEA BOROUGH COUNCIL

Place Scrutiny Committee
Special Meeting

Date: Monday, 15th June, 2020
Time: 6.30 pm

Place: Virtual Meeting via MS Teams

Contact: Tim Row - Principal Democratic Services Officer 
Email: committeesection@southend.gov.uk 

A G E N D A

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Interest 

3  Questions from Members of the Public 
As this is a special meeting of the Committee, questions must relate to 
business included in the agenda for the meeting, in accordance with Standing 
Order 6B.

4  The Council's Response to COVID-19 (Pages 1 - 34)
Report of Chief Executive attached.

This special meeting of the Scrutiny Committee has been called by the Chair 
pursuant to Paragraph 4 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 4(e) of the 
Constitution, to consider the Council’s Covid-19 response and recovery plans. 
Special meetings of the other Scrutiny Committees have also been called for 
the same purpose.
 
The Cabinet will consider reports on this item and the following item of 
business (Item 5 - Initial Local Financial Assessment of COVID-19) at its 
meeting on 9 June 2020. Copies of these reports are attached to assist the 
Scrutiny Committees in considering relevant matters and the decisions of the 
Cabinet in respect of each report will be circulated to the Scrutiny Committees 
in advance of their meetings. The relevant Cabinet Members and senior 
officers will be available to answer questions at the meetings of each 
Committee.
 
The draft Minutes of this meeting of the Place Scrutiny Committee and the 
meeting of the Policy & Resources Scrutiny Committee to be held on 11 June 
2020 will be reported to the meeting of the People Scrutiny Committee to be 
held on 16 June 2020 for information. However, Councillors should note that 
each Scrutiny Committee must focus on the Council’s Covid-19 response and 
the immediate recovery plans in respect of its specific areas of responsibility.

Public Document Pack



5  Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 (Pages 35 - 52)
Report of Executive Director (Finance and Resources) attached.

NOTE: In the light of rapidly changing circumstances, it is anticipated that a 
supplementary report will be issued before the Cabinet meeting on 9 June 
2020.

6  Exclusion of the Public 

To agree that, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the items of business set out below on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act, and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

TO: The Chair & Members Place Scrutiny Committee:
Councillor A Moring (Chair),
Councillors M Flewitt (Vice-Chair), B Ayling, J Beck, A Bright, K Buck, L Burton, A Chalk, 
D Cowan, T Cox, M Dent, S George, D Jarvis, S Wakefield, C Walker, N Ward and  
P Wexham



1

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Report of Chief Executive 

To
Cabinet

On
9 June 2020  

Report prepared by: Stephen Meah-Sims, Interim Head of 
Corporate Strategy & Tim MacGregor, Policy Manager

The Council’s response to Covid-19  

Relevant Scrutiny Committee(s): Policy and Resources; People; Place
Cabinet Member: Councillor Ian Gilbert

Part 1 (Public Agenda Item) 

1. Purpose of Report

To inform Cabinet of action taken by the Council in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic and its approach to restore and/or adapt services and further assist 
residents, local businesses, staff and the borough in general.  It highlights how 
the Council will use and review the Southend 2050 programme to drive 
recovery and build on some aspects of the pandemic response that have been 
positive, including community mobilisation, adaptation of services and more 
effective remote working.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Cabinet note the action taken to date in response to the Covid-19 crisis; 

2.2 That, in the light of the impact of Covid-19, Cabinet approve the proposed approach 
to recovery, including the use the Southend 2050 programme to drive the borough 
and council’s recovery phase and in that context undertake a review of the Southend 
2050 outcomes and roadmap content.

2.3 That Cabinet thanks residents, staff, businesses and partners for all their efforts to 
date in responding to the pandemic. 

3. Background

3.1 The Covid-19 pandemic represents the biggest challenge to human health and 
wellbeing since the Second World War.  Tragically, about 60,000 people have died in 
the UK as a result, directly or indirectly, of the virus1, with 149 confirmed deaths in 
Southend-on-Sea (at 27 May) and with a cure and/or possible vaccine many months, 
if not longer, away.  It has had, and will continue to have, a fundamental impact on 

1 ONS findings of ‘excess deaths’ – ie. those higher than the average for the past 5 years, including those 
registered deaths due to Covid-19.

Agenda
Item No.

3

1

4



2

the day to day life of everyone in the UK, the world, national and local economy, 
national public policy, as well as the services, finances and governance of all local 
authorities.  

3.2 The Bank of England has reported that, based on the lockdown being relaxed in 
June, the UK economy will shrink by 14% this year, the sharpest recession on record, 
with many sectors taking years to recover and the economy as a whole unlikely to 
see a quick ‘bounce back’.  

3.3 While the virus and its consequences have affected everyone in the country, the 
direct impact has been particularly hard on those in care homes, the elderly, those 
with underlying health conditions, those who are less well-off and those from Black 
and Ethnic Minority communities.  A full, and ongoing, equality impact assessment of 
the impact of Covid-19 on equality groups for the borough has been undertaken and 
is attached at Appendix 1, with a summary of key findings at paragraph 8.7.  This will 
be developed further as more information/research becomes available.

3.4 However, the council, working collaboratively with partners and the community has 
overseen an unprecedented mobilisation of council, partner and community 
resources to meet the crisis.  This response has helped to significantly mitigate the 
impact, has saved lives of residents, alleviated a crisis in the NHS and care sector 
and supported the most vulnerable in our community.  This has been done, while 
keeping other vital day to day services running and with a speed and in a way which 
staff, councillors, residents and partner organisations can, rightly, be very proud.

3.5  There will undoubtedly be lessons learnt both locally (which are being captured) and 
from the national response. The latter has relied heavily on local authority leadership 
and capacity, and has come after years of austerity that, some argue, left many 
services under-resourced to deal effectively with a pandemic.  The key areas of the 
council’s response are outlined below.

4.0 The council’s response

4.1 Immediate response – Civil Contingency 

4.1.1 The council’s civil contingency arrangements were put into effect in the run up to the 
national lockdown, which began on 23 March. These arrangements have continued 
and adapted since, aligning to Government requirements and the Essex Resilience 
Forum operations.  The council’s Strategic Command (SCG/Gold) and Tactical 
Command (TCG/Silver) Groups have been meeting, continuously, to address a welter 
of issues, that often change in nature on a daily basis.  While arrangements were 
inevitably adapted to circumstances, they proved highly effective in ensuring 
challenges were met, and may provide lessons for future ways of working. 

4.1.2 Key to the effective response has been the close working and alignment with our 
partners, both in the borough and across the county, which has taken partnership 
working to a new level and one which bodes well for future working. This has been 
helped by a number of senior council officers taking a leading role in co-ordinating  
the public sector’s response across Essex, particularly on homelessness, PPE, care 
home support and the restoration of services as lockdown eases.

2



3

4.1.3 These challenges included ensuring that all council buildings underwent a phased 
closure to the public, ensuring residents could continue to be served on-line or via 
other means and that virtually all staff could work from home, with minimal numbers 
in council buildings.  This required significant upgrading and changes to the council’s 
ICT infrastructure and a huge culture change for most staff to work from home for a 
lengthy period, with, among other things, the onset of video conferencing and new 
ways of working.     

4.2 Lockdown enforcement 

4.2.1  A multi-agency approach, from the council’s community safety and licensing teams, 
the Police, other council services, Business Improvement District Rangers and Beach 
Welfare Officers, supported by re-deployed Council staff and volunteers, sought to 
ensure that residents, businesses and visitors abided by the Government lockdown 
restrictions.  Enforcing these sensitively is particularly challenging for a seaside 
destination, doubly so during good weather and bank holidays.  However, work by all 
agencies, coupled with a strategic approach to parking and highways management 
and a highly effective ‘Don’t visit Southend’ campaign ensured the restrictions were 
adhered to by the vast majority of people and businesses. 

4.2.2  Unfortunately, there were some incidents of assaults on council staff during this 
period and there were some difficulties experienced following mixed messages on the 
lifting of lockdown restrictions, when combined with very good weather.  The launch 
of the Beach Welfare Officer scheme has helped to supplement existing resources 
and, with the multi-skilled volunteers drawn from Chalkwell open water swimming 
club (Chalkwell Redcaps), has proved an invaluable addition to the town’s community 
safety family.  

4.3 Council Services

4.3.1 A phased programme of closure, part closure, and re-configuration of council services 
was implemented from 18 March. This included the closure of culture and leisure 
centres, the pier, libraries, children’s play areas and sports/recreation facilities and 
the closure to the public of the civic centre, with customers re-directed to access 
services on-line or by phone. Parks and open spaces along with the seafront 
remained open to enable local people to enjoy their exercise entitlement. 

4.3.2 Many key front line services continued to provide a near normal service or adapted to 
circumstances.  These included refuse collection, street cleansing, care to the 
vulnerable and those at risk, a revised cultural online offer from museums, libraries 
and Focal Point Gallery and a reduced highways maintenance and horticulture 
service.  In addition, a whole range of support services, critical to the successful 
provision of council and partner services, were successfully maintained.

4.4 Staffing and business continuity 

4.4.1 The Council’s overall, and individual service, business continuity plans were put into 
effect and adapted to circumstances, with staff encouraged to work from home, 
following Government guidance from 16 March.  This required a significant, and at 
times challenging, upgrade to the Council’s ICT infrastructure and available software, 
to enable all staff to work from home, where possible.  Only staff critical to key 
services were allowed to work from the Civic Centre – meaning staff using the 

3



4

building have numbered around 100-130, since the end of March, (compared to the 
usual 1000) and requiring a raft of measures to ensure social distancing and 
cleanliness.  

4.4.2 A home working plan was rolled out with regular monitoring of staff availability and 
with staff offered for re-deployment to key areas where shortages developed, such as 
CCTV and the Covid-19 helpline.  Around 100 staff were re-deployed, with a further 
400 staff available for re-deployment if required, with some really positive feedback 
about their contribution, in particular, to Operation Shield and homelessness work has 
been received.  All staff were successfully paid for April, arranged by payroll staff 
working from home, at what is one of the busiest times for many staff in those areas 
in managing end of financial year arrangements.  

4.5 Social Care

4.5.1 The council worked very closely with health colleagues in ensuring hospital beds 
could be freed up as much as possible by helping care providers prepare to receive 
those coming out of hospital.  This support included interpreting national guidance, 
managing workforce challenges, supporting provision of relevant PPE, offering robust 
infection protection control advice and maintaining regular contact and 
communication channels.  In addition, there has been direct support into Operation 
Shield where people were identified as having needs that needed a higher level of 
support.  Financial support, initially for 3 months, for both domiciliary care providers 
and residential care homes has been provided, along with a relaxation of some 
contract requirements such as providing performance information and seeking 
authorisation for certain actions.

4.5.2 The Council worked with the Care Quality Commission to track the impact on 
providers, particularly care homes, which highlighted an increased in death rate as a 
result.

4.5.3 Working with the council, Southend Care, opened a unit to provide residential care for 
older people who have recently been discharged from hospital following a Covid-19 
test and who are awaiting a negative test result.  Based at Priory House, the unit 
provides capacity for 13 assessment beds to support people for a short period before 
they can return home, return to their care home or go to another Covid-19 free care 
home. 

4.5.4 Children’s Social Care and Early Help responded effectively to the challenges of 
Covid 19 supporting children and young people we were aware of and those that 
came to our attention during the pandemic. This includes 1,263 children in need, 173 
of who are children subject to child protection plans and 310 children who are looked 
after by the council.  Risk assessments were undertaken on all those families the 
service was already working with and appropriate support put in place. This included 
face to face visits operating within the lock down requirements of social distancing 
and virtual visits for those cases where there the assessment indicated lower risk. 
The service’s front door and Multi agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) continued to 
operate through the pandemic receiving and assessing referrals to ensure that timely 
interventions and support was available and provided.

4.5.5 Ongoing focus has been given to the multi-agency work to tackle county lines and 
identify those children most at risk of criminal exploitation.  The Edge of Care team 

4



5

has continued to take on cases during and will not close cases at this time to ensure 
that there is a continued support to vulnerable families and other professionals.  
Community support workers have provided food vouchers when needed and devised 
a virtual parenting programme that began in mid-April.  Working from home the Youth 
Offending Service has maintained weekly contact with all cases and the targeted 
youth service has delivered weekly packs of information, educational and recreational 
material (including Easter eggs) to those on youth programmes.  In addition, young 
carers have been contacted on a regular basis to check on their wellbeing. 

4.6 Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)

4.6.1 Probably the most challenging aspect of the Coivd-19 response has been securing 
sufficient, and the right type, of PPE for those that need it. Public health and social 
care colleagues worked through the Essex Resilience Forum to manage the receipt 
and onward distribution of nationally and local sourced PPE. This proved a daily and 
on-going challenge, including, amongst other things, ensuring that staff going into 
people’s homes are adequately protected.   However, a call was made to the 
borough’s businesses and other organisations to donate equipment, as supplies were 
insufficient. Over 20 businesses and organisations responded, including restaurants, 
schools and nurseries, a medical and dental instruments manufacturer and South 
Essex active travel initiative ForwardMotion, in providing for social workers and 
community care providers.

4.7 Community Resilience 

4.7.1 The Southend Coronavirus Action helpline was set up within 10 days, being 
operational by 26 March. Systems were put in place to buy and distribute food, collect 
and deliver medication and help with shopping, dog walking and provide other help 
for vulnerable residents unable to leave their homes.

4.7.2    Well over 5000 calls have been made to the helpline, with over 7000 outbound calls 
made to shielded people.  Over 1100 separate households have been supported, 
with over 600 food parcels, over 600 shopping deliveries and over 550 people having 
their medication collected and delivered as well as 28 dogs walked. People have also 
been helped with access to money, their gas and electricity bills and befriending 
(figures as at 29 May).  

4.7.3    The new service has been a whole community and cross council effort.  In addition, 
to South Essex Community Hub and Southend Association of Voluntary Services 
(SAVS), the likes of Storehouse, Salvation Army, Everyone Health, Family Action, 
Good Sams (NHS volunteers), food retailers and wholesalers (including donations), 
community pharmacists and others working together was central to its success. 
South Essex Homes (SEH), customer services, ICT, communications, social care, 
performance, cleaning, facilities, Pier, commissioning staff and community 
development leaders, as well as, redeployed staff all stepped up to make this work.

4.7.4 Southend Coronavirus Action, a partnership between SAVS, South Essex 
Community Hub and the Council, was launched with a Facebook page. It asked 
volunteers to register their interest in helping others in their area with simple tasks.  
An impressive 929 volunteers stepped forward to offer help during the first 8 weeks of 

5

http://www.facebook.com/SouthendCoronavirusAction


6

the crisis and of these 234 were placed for specific roles to support the community. 
This is in addition to the NHS call out which also has local volunteers registered.

4.7.5 The group also sought businesses who could volunteer their services and the project 
has moved into supporting a stronger asset based community development (ABCD) 
approach with locality leads working with community groups and ward councillors. 
The legacy of this work will support 2050 active and involved outcomes.

4.7.6 Building on this approach, Volunteer Southend, the Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) and the council launched a Good Neighbours Scheme to encouraging 
everyone to connect with their neighbours. The scheme asks good neighbours to 
share their stories to inspire others to get involved. A starter pack of guidance has 
been produced to help anyone interested in connecting more with others in their local 
area.   

4.7.7 All over 70 year olds (over 700) in council accommodation were contacted by SEH 
staff to ensure they were safe, to provide reassurance and offer support and 
residents in sheltered housing frequently reminded to maintain social distancing, 
given they are particularly vulnerable.

4.7.8 In addition, the Council has established a hardship fund to provide support to 
vulnerable individuals to enable further reductions in council tax for working age 
people in receipt of Local Council Tax Support. 

4.8 Homelessness

4.8.1 All rough sleepers in the borough were provided with temporary accommodation.  In 
the first two days, 85 rough sleepers were temporarily housed by the council’s rough 
sleeper team, with excellent support from partners including homeless charity HARP 
and GPs, who registered all rough sleepers to ensure they had a health check.  127 
people who were sleeping rough were housed in hotels and B&Bs and all agencies 
worked together to make sure they were safe and well and to deal with the 
sometimes challenging behaviour from some individuals.  The response model 
created within Southend has proved to be particularly effective and has been adopted 
by others across the county as a result.  A strategy to find pathways into permanent 
accommodation is being developed as restrictions are relaxed, taking account of 
individuals complex needs and with support to get them into treatment, with individual 
care packages, year round wraparound support and on-going medical assessments 
to help maintain long term housing. 

4.8.2 Partnership working between the Council and community has ensured that all those 
temporarily housed have been provided with meals and food provisions during the 
lockdown.  Following the temporary closure of Southend Adult Community College 
(SACC) for face to face teaching, the college was repurposed and the kitchens there 
opened, staffed by college staff, to prepare and deliver breakfast and lunch three 
days a week.  By the time the College reopened on 1 June for teaching over 4000 
meals will have been prepared there for rough sleepers.  This has helped alleviate 
pressure on partners who are also providing food for those who required it.

4.9 Community safety

While significant council, police and other agency resources have been focussed on 

6



7

lockdown related measures, overall crime in the borough has seen a notable 
decrease, (of 33%), over the same period (March-10 May) for 2019.  As would be 
expected, crimes such as robbery, shoplifting, vehicle offences, violent crime, 
commercial burglary, nuisance and sexual offences have all seen a reduction.   
However, domestic burglary has risen, largely due an increase in thefts from sheds 
and garages, as has thefts of pedal cycles. Domestic abuse has been a particular 
concern – although no spike has yet been detected in Southend.  As a result a 
number of measures have been taken to mitigate the risk, including contacting all 
known previous victims to check on their position and to see if they needed further 
support.  

4.10 Excess Deaths

Sadly, it was necessary to make emergency provision to cope with the potential of 
large numbers of deaths from the Covid-19. This required work to re-line two 
cremators at the crematorium and to install two temporary mortuary units at Southend 
Hospital. Fortunately, there has been a limited need for the temporary mortuary 
facilities to be used so far. Funerals continued, and were managed effectively, with 
only small groups of family members present and the online streaming service for 
services made free for those unable to attend.  

4.11 Education

4.11.1 The council worked closely with all schools, early years providers and sixth form 
colleges to support them in managing the required closure to all but the pupils of key 
workers and vulnerable learners. This helped to ensure appropriate provision and put 
in place systems to monitor the wellbeing of learners not attending school. 
Attendance grew significantly after Easter from less than 400 a day to over 600 by 
mid-May. The council has also worked with school leaders to ensure the on-going 
provision of free school meals and the provision of digital equipment for vulnerable 
and older deprived children, over 500 in total. 

4.11.2 The council issued guidance to support the return to school for targeted year groups, 
for 1 June. During this period, both staff in early years settings and in schools have 
embraced their pastoral responsibilities both towards their own children, their own 
communities and the wider community, for example through the provision of 
additional PPE.  Furthermore, libraries and museums provided an online offer to 
support schools. 

4.11.3 SACC followed a phased reduction in face to face teaching following the same 
guidelines as schools, finally closing before Easter.  Teaching has continued online 
with high levels of engagement from 14-16 and 16-19 cohorts, in particular, and 
community learning. Community learning provision, for example, has 60 courses 
running with participation rates on average of 86% and rates for Maths, English and 
ESOL running at around 60%.  Welfare checks were undertaken with learners and 
plans made for a phased return from 15 June, in line with Government guidance, with 
all learners being risk assessed and only vulnerable young people encouraged to 
attend in the first instance.

4.12 Local Economy

4.12.1 As with the rest of the country, Southend’s local economy has been hugely affected 
by the crisis, compounded by being a seaside resort, a commuter town and having a 

7



8

local airport.  Retailers in receipt of the 59% retail rate relief have benefited from an 
automatic increase to 100%, with the measure expanded to include leisure and 
hospitality sectors for 2020/21.  Business rates bills showing a nil balance are being 
issued to relevant businesses.  For its own commercial tenants the council paused 
rent enforcement measures for three months to June 2020 and this remains under 
review in line with government guidance.  Businesses have been directed to the 
various business support schemes including those intended to support with direct 
property costs such as rent.  For businesses within the Business Improvement 
District (BID) area the council has enabled a three-month deferral period for levy 
payments.

4.12.2 The council was given £47.5m from government to pass on to businesses in line with 
their criteria for the Small Business and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants.  The 
council received around 3,700 applications, processing 99.7% of these and making 
payments of over £35.3m to 2,885 local businesses (at 31 May).  Applicants who did 
not meet the criteria could have their application reviewed and be signposted to 
further avenues of potential help. This required a workaround to the council’s 
Revenues and Benefits system (Northgate) to expedite the issuing of funds.  
Processing the payments took an enormous effort of the part of Revenues and 
Benefits staff, supported by the Economic Development Team, to ensure these 
payments could be begin within 10 days of the Government announcement.  

4.12.3 The council is working with local businesses to inform a Southend policy for 
managing the ‘Discretionary Grants’, announced in early May.  These are funded by 
using 5% of councils overall business grant allocation – so, £2.37m for Southend 
(leaving sufficient money from the £47.5m to provide grants to the borough’s eligible 
businesses). Discretionary grants are aimed at small businesses with ongoing fixed 
property-related costs.  Businesses must be small (under 50 staff) and be able to 
show they have seen a significant drop of income due to Covid-19 restriction 
measures. These are not available to businesses which have received one of the 
Small Business and Retail, Hospitality and Leisure Grants.  Initial guidance was 
issued 13 May and it is expected that the grants will go live in early June.  

4.12.4 The Economic Development team and Business Essex, Southend and Thurrock 
(BEST) Growth Hub have continued to support businesses wherever possible -  
signposting to funding and information.  Re-deployed staff have contacted some 300 
businesses to encourage grant applications and have managed a large number of 
inbound enquiries on grants, opening restrictions and Covid-secure workplace 
guidance.  

4.13 Communications

The council’s communications has focussed on being a trusted source of information 
for local people, protecting public health and ensuring local people are clear on the 
changes and impacts on local services.  A coronavirus hub 
(www.southend.gov.uk/coronavirus) was quickly set up and has evolved and grown 
as the situation has changed.

Key communications and campaigns have included:
 Southend Coronavirus Action (SCA) line – driving volunteer sign up and 

promotion of the helpline

8

http://www.southend.gov.uk/coronavirus


9

 LiveWell booklet – production and distribution of booklet to every home in the 
Borough – this followed the production and delivery of a leaflet promoting the 
SCA helpline.

 Don’t Visit Southend - a targeted campaign to deter visitors to the borough, as 
part of operational measures such as parking bans and car park closures.

 Don’t stay, take it away – countywide campaign to encourage people to take 
their takeaways home rather than congregating – this was a short campaign 
run before the government announcements on 10 May

 Stay safe, stay apart and Think Twice – campaigns to urge visitors and 
residents to take responsibility for maintaining social distancing during 
easement of the lockdown.

 A variety of media and external communication pieces covering the whole 
scope of the Coronavirus response

 Regular communication with care providers offering advice, guidance and 
support to enable them to provide care safely

 Regular communication to staff to ensure they have the most up to date advice 
and guidance, including the ‘Shine a Light’, morale boosting campaign to 
enable staff to say thank you to their colleagues for the work they are doing, 
either directly coronavirus related or enabling business as usual to continue

 A daily briefing to councillors to keep them informed and up to date
 Regular communication with businesses (via social media, email and e-

newsletters) to make them aware of the support available and particularly to 
encourage those who might be eligible but not yet applied.

4.14 Governance

4.14.1 New arrangements were put in place to ensure that councillors could continue to 
make key decisions and to ensure access by the public.  As permitted by new 
Government Coronavirus related regulations the council has established a system for 
meetings to be held remotely, by using video or phone conferencing.  April and May 
is a relatively quiet time for formal council meetings, but during these months the 
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee, Audit Committee and Development 
Control Committee have already been held virtually.  The council is likely to move to a 
hybrid system of in-person and virtual participation, when circumstances permit. 

4.14.2 Furthermore, unlike some councils, there has not been any additional delegation of 
functions to officers.  In line with usual practice the ‘Standing Order 46’ procedure has 
been used to make some urgent or routine decisions that would normally go to a 
Cabinet or Committee, with a decision being taken by a chief officer in consultation 
with the relevant cabinet member. This has been used for four issues relating to:

 Updating the SACC scheme of delegation;
 The closure of recycling centres, public toilets, suspension of gulley cleansing 

and suspension of certain waste collections;
 Suspension of taxi licensing conditions that prevents drivers from seeking 

alternative short term work.
 Delivering improvements to the next phase of London Road S-CATS/Sunrise 

project. 

4.14.3 In the case of two decisions of significance (those relating to Southend United 
Football Club stadium plans and the council pausing all commercial rent enforcement 
measures for three months) SO46 procedure has been used following consultation 

9



10

with the Group Leaders.  For comparison, there were four SO46 decisions reported to 
the June 2019 Cabinet meeting.

4.15 Testing and Contact Tracing

4.15.1 Mobile testing for the Southend-on-Sea area started at London Southend Airport on 
19 May, following joint work between the council, health colleagues and the airport, 
and building on the availability of testing at Stansted Airport.  People can now ask for 
an NHS test if they have symptoms of coronavirus, whatever their age.  Priority 
testing via Gov.uk is available to: essential workers, anyone over 5 who has 
symptoms of Covid-19 and lives with an essential worker, children under 5 who has 
symptoms of Covid-19 and live with an essential worker. 

4.15.2 Contact tracing – the process of reducing virus transmission by finding and isolating 
close contacts of confirmed cases - was paused in the early stages of the pandemic.  
On 28 May, contact tracing recommenced nationally as the Test and Trace 
programme and will identify close contacts of confirmed cases and require them to 
self-isolate for 14 days.  A key strand of the new Test and Trace programme is the 
role for local authorities to provide leadership and oversight with regard to complex 
local situations. By the end of June, the Council is required to produce a Local 
Outbreak Control Plan and to put in place governance arrangements with political 
ownership and public facing engagement and communication.  The details are being 
worked through and where appropriate will likely draw on existing structures/Boards.
Specific themes include care homes and schools, high risk places and communities, 
vulnerable people and complex settings.  Local testing capacity will need to be 
responsive and accessible.  

4.15.3 The integration of local and national data (via the Joint Biosecurity Centre) will 
provide a more nuanced Southend perspective, including warning of a local surge in 
Covid-19 infections.  This is essential for the safe, flexible and responsive progress 
towards recovery among our communities and businesses.   

4.16 Service re-mobilisation

The Council has, and continues, to develop plans for the re-opening of services and 
Council buildings, in line with government guidance and in a co-ordinated way, where 
appropriate, with neighbouring authorities.  In addition to supporting schools begin a 
phased return, the recycling centres opened on 18 May, revised grass cutting 
programme started from 18 May.  Belfairs golf course, free to use tennis and 
basketball courts and outdoor multi use games areas opened on 22 May. The civic 
centre has remained partially opened to staff throughout and the relevant Covid-
secure measures will be put in from 1 June to enable a small number of additional 
staff to return where essential for work or wellbeing reasons (with strict limitations on 
numbers). Mandatory training for staff working in the building has been rolled out on 
the Council’s e-learning platform.  SACC is due to re-open to 14+ learners from the 
15 June.  Re-opening of some buildings or facilities is likely to require additional 
investment or equipment and facilities to enable them to operate safely and the 
relevant risk assessments are being planned and completed as resources permit.

4.17 Response to relaxation measures

10



11

The council has taken a balanced approached following the government’s national 
announcement on 10 May to relax some of the lockdown measures. This has 
particularly focused on high footfall areas such as the seafront. The measures below 
are kept under constant review and discussed with a wider stakeholder group that 
includes local businesses, Southend Business Partnership, Business Improvement 
District and Essex Chamber of Commerce.

 Setting up a marshalled contraflow road system to allow more road space to be 
used by pedestrians on Western Esplanade

 A phased approach to reopening car parks and seafront parking bays, with 
many still suspended to enable the contraflow

 Putting queue management, sanitisation stations and extra cleaning in place at 
central seafront public toilets such as Jubilee beach, alongside bringing in 
further portaloos for City Beach and working with Adventure Island to enable 
them to open their private toilets

 Working with local businesses to enable them to put queue management 
systems in place at takeaways for example

 Used redeployed council staff, volunteers and beach welfare officers alongside 
community support officers to encourage and remind people about the need to 
observe social distancing

 Stepped up parking enforcement to help ensure safe and responsible parking
 Asking people to think twice before visiting, and if they are here to observe 

social distancing and signage, not congregate in crowds and ‘stay safe, stay 
apart’

 Signage and banners reinforcing social distancing messages along the seafront, 
in parks, and in council facilities

Work to support local businesses, Southend BID and other organisations is 
underway ahead of the reopening of outdoor markets from 1 June and non-
essential shops from 15 June

5. Recovery, Southend 2050 and roadmap

5.1 The Covid-19 outbreak has presented a challenge that touches on all aspects of life 
that affect individuals, community groups and businesses in very different ways. It 
has demanded that institutions and organisations rapidly plan and operate differently, 
with their resilience being tested as never before. This includes having to react and 
respond with a range of new systems, priorities and challenges such as business 
continuity risks, the need for rapid decision-making, changes to workforce wellbeing 
and productivity, dealing with a vast range of communication channels, and new 
security risks.  All of this is set against a backdrop of seemingly new levels of 
awareness and support for key public services, including local government, and a 
new wave of community spirit exemplified by the level of C-19 volunteers and C-19 
and VE Day related community activity springing up across the borough. 

5.2 The council has adapted in a variety of ways to respond to the Covid-19 challenges, 
that have included rapid ICT developments to enable services to continue 
uninterrupted or differently, significant workforce redeployment into prioritised 
services. The council also acted rapidly to develop new council services that 
supported the most vulnerable communities, which resulted in a benchmark for other 

11



12

councils.  Efforts to proactively respond and think ahead, by considering new 
opportunities created by the situation and the possible impact of Government policy 
has enabled the council to open conversations with a wide range of individuals and 
groups affected. This has helped many to be on the front foot with preparations and 
ensure that they are well placed to start resuming their course of work.  

5.3 The change in the way the council has provided some of its services and managed 
itself behind the scenes, with rapid advances in ICT, puts the council in a strong place 
to consider how to return to the ‘new normal’.  This potentially includes dramatic 
changes in how some areas of the workforce operate, new ways in which some 
services can run and taking advantage of new opportunities, such as promoting a 
greener Southend.

5.4 In this context, it is worth highlighting that emissions of carbon dioxide and nitrogen 
dioxide have fallen sharply as a result of the lockdown - by about 17% globally for 
CO2 and up to 50% for NO2 in parts of the borough in early April, although these are 
expected to return to original levels.  Many people have commented that the cleaner 
air, a more peaceful environment, bluer skies, along with more cycling and walking 
may see enhanced support for greener measures taken by local authorities.  For 
example, the government’s provision of £250m emergency active travel fund may 
enable the council to promote cycling and walking through, among other things, pop-
up bike lanes, wider pavements, safer junctions, and more cycle and bus-only 
corridors, where appropriate.  Some cities have taken advantage of the fall in car use 
during lockdown to reallocate car space to cycling and walking and seen green 
investment as a central part of their economic recovery plans.

5.5 The borough’s economic recovery will also continue to be driven by the delivery of 
key schemes, which will bring job and financial opportunities to the town.  Schemes 
as Better Queensway, the airport business park, the high street renewal projects, the 
housing regeneration pipeline programme, SUFC and Seaways, may face some 
delay due to labour, materials and finance availability, but have even greater 
significance in the light of the sharp economic downturn.  The position in terms of 
funding implications and the need for re-prioritising, re-phasing and re-sequencing 
will, therefore, be subject to continual review.

5.6 Beyond the operational adjustments, the council’s preparations for ‘recovery’ and 
moving to a ‘new normal’ of operations began in April, with an expectation that the 
ways of working, processes for decision making, the shape of particular services and 
the financial resources available to the council could be fundamentally different. 

5.7 The council is one of a small number that has recently invested in substantial 
engagement and co-design with stakeholders and communities to develop a shared 
vision of the future - the Southend 2050 ambition, 23 outcomes and delivery 
roadmap. The ongoing engagement activity is a real advantage to the borough as a 
whole, as it has brought together people and communities to identify where they want 
Southend to be in the future. The focus on how Southend recovers from the Covid-19 
experience to achieve the 2050 ambition remains as strong as ever.  However, the 
council, along with other stakeholders and community groups will need to think about 
how to achieve that ambition, in light of Covid-19.

5.8 The 2050 outcomes may, therefore, require some adjustment, with a focus on the 
review on the 2050 roadmap which sets out key milestones connected to delivery 

12



13

against the outcomes. As a result of the Covid-19 experience, parts of the roadmap 
may need to be sequenced differently, with additional milestones added.

5.9 Joint Administration response to Covid-19 with 6 political Recovery priorities

5.9.1 In determining what Recovery means, specifically for Southend and the council, the 
Joint Administration has developed six political Recovery priorities. These have been 
developed by Cabinet and the Corporate Management Team to establish the ‘key 
considerations’ that should factor in future planning for Southend, under the 2050 
ambition. The political Recovery priorities are set out below and are not designed to 
replace the original Southend 2050 five themes, but more act as critical prompts to 
ensure that the outcomes and roadmap which sit under the themes take account of 
the political Recovery priorities.

5.9.2 The 6 political Recovery priorities are set out below.

Priority 1) Economic focus on a stronger and safer town
Southend rebuilds and supports a local economy and social infrastructure, that 
recognises recent challenges but is clear about the ambition for the future.
Cabinet leads Cllr Kevin Robinson and Cllr Martin Terry
Officer leads Andy Lewis                   

Priority 2) Green City and Climate Change
An ambitious place that is committed to tackling the climate emergency and takes 
steps towards making sustainable, long lasting and far reaching impacts across 
Southend.
Cabinet leads Cllr Carole Mulroney and Cllr Anne Jones
Officer leads Larissa Reed

Priority 3) Travel and Transport
Understanding the needs to move in, out and around Southend, our travel and 
transport infrastructure will address the present challenges and look to future options 
that support Southend’s Green city ambitions.
Cabinet leads Cllr Ron Woodley and Cllr Carole Mulroney
Officer leads Larissa Reed

Priority 4) People and communities
Understanding who is more socially excluded resulting from Covid-19. Working with 
people and communities to understand the issues, build capacity, resilience and 
finding solutions in response to the local and individual challenges.
Cabinet leads Cllr Trevor Harp and Cllr Anne Jones
Officer leads Michael Marks and Tandra Forster

Priority 5) Major projects
Delivering on key pieces of work that strongly position Southend socially, 
environmentally and economically for the future, enabling the town to draw in 
opportunities and secure investment.
Cabinet leads Cllr Ron Woodley
Officer leads Joe Chesterton

Priority 6) How we learn and recover as an organisation

13



14

A proactive and forward-thinking council that embeds and sustains the recent 
transformation in how the organisation works. Continues to adapt, respond and 
reshape to current challenges, that future-proofs with the delivery of quality services.
Cabinet leads Cllr Ian Gilbert
Officer leads Joanna Ruffle and John Williams

5.10 Updating Southend 2050 outcomes 

5.10.1 The Southend 2050 outcomes and roadmap were due to receive a stocktake, review 
and update as part of an annual process, and in the context of the outcome of the 
May 2020 local election. Ordinarily, the review would have taken place and assessed 
progress against the current 23 outcomes. Since the Covid-19 events, there has 
been a significant response effort across organisations and communities in 
Southend. The original outcomes under Southend 2050 aimed to grow Southend as a 
prosperous town, with communities that thrived and visitors that enjoyed the 
experience, returned and spread the word.  Post Covid-19, Southend is in a different 
place. The 2050 ambition is the same, but how Southend gets there may be 
somewhat different.  This approach is the basis for ensuring that the outcomes are 
right, along with an updated roadmap. Therefore, the outcomes and roadmap review 
will aim to build on positive aspects of the crisis and point the way to rebalance and 
restore the damage caused in recent months.  It is important to note that some 
aspects of recovery may take a considerable time to fully rebalance. In some cases, 
things may change completely.

5.10.2 Each of the 6 political Recovery priorities is set up with Cabinet and CMT leads and 
under this leadership, in collaboration with Southend 2050 officer theme leads will 
initiate the review of the 23 outcomes. A range of stakeholders will be engaged as 
part of the process of review, with a target date for refresh of the 2050 outcomes and 
roadmap for Cabinet in July 2020. 

5.10.3 It is also important to recognise that there are new details concerning Covid-19 and 
its impact that affect Government decisions and policy makers. Therefore, it is 
essential that the Recovery plans in Southend are fluid enough to respond to 
changes and this will mean the 2050 outcomes and roadmap will be closely 
monitored and updated to ensure the very best for the borough.

6. Other Options 

6.1 The council could choose not to outline its response to Covid-19 or agree not to set 
out its path to recovery or review its current ambition and desired outcomes.  This 
would mean failing to set out and recognise the huge impact the crisis has had on the 
borough, its people and the council and the council’s approach to recovery.   A review 
of the current 2050 ambition and outcomes would most likely be required in any case, 
given they were agreed in 2018.  

7. Reasons for Recommendations 

To ensure the council has an opportunity to review action taken to date to tackle the 
Covid-19 crisis and to consider the appropriate approach to be taken to enable the 
borough and council to recover.  

8. Corporate Implications

14



15

8.1 Contribution to the Southend 2050 Road Map 
The report outlines the range of measures taken by the council to address the Covid 
19 crisis.  The report also outlines the council’s approach to using the Southend 2050 
programme as the primary vehicle for recovery and recommends that the council 
undertakes a review of the 2050 ambition and outcomes in the light of the huge 
impact the crisis has had on the borough, its people, the council and other 
stakeholders.

8.2 Financial Implications
There are no specific financial implications related to this report.  However, the 
significant financial implications for the council of the impact of Covid 19 are 
addressed in the separate report on the agenda: ‘Initial Local Financial Assessment 
of Covid-19’. 

8.3 Legal Implications – none specific

8.4 People Implications
A number of the aspects of the impact of the pandemic on council staff are outlined in 
paragraph 4.4, including the need to adapt to new ways of working, dealing with the 
need for new forms of communication, contact and networking and maintaining good 
staff morale.  Future working arrangements may, therefore, look very different for 
many staff and the implications for this and how that is managed will be a key 
element of the recovery work undertaken.

8.5 Property Implications
The council will need to review the current use of buildings and facilities in the light of 
the re-mobilisation programme, in the context of recovery, and the on-going need to 
meet the health requirements of staff and visitors.  

8.6 Consultation
The report highlights that the response to the pandemic has been one of community, 
partners, staff, councillors and other stakeholders continuously working closely to 
ensure the best possible outcomes in very difficult circumstances.  The approach to 
recovery will look to continue this approach, develop new tools for engaging 
communities and partners to adapt to circumstances and continue to use co-design 
and co-production approaches in particular service areas. 

8.7 Equalities and Diversity Implications

An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken to assess the impact Covid-19 
has had on equality groups (and includes a summary of findings).  This is attached at 
Appendix 1 and will continue to be updated as more research and information, 
becomes available.  

8.8 Risk Assessment 
The Council is reviewing the Corporate Risk Register in the light of the impact and 
implications of the pandemic.

8.9 Value for Money – non specific

15



16

8.10 Community Safety Implications
These are addressed in the report at paragraph 4.9

8.11 Environmental Impact 
These are addressed in paragraph 5.4.  In addition, Green City and climate change is 
one of the six priorities identified for assessing the council’s approach to recovery.

9. Background Papers
None 

10. Appendices

Appendix 1 – Equality Impact Assessment – Covid-19.

16



17

Appendix 1

COVID-19: Southend Equality Impact Assessment
The Equality Act 2010, requires public authorities to have ‘due regard’ to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and to advance equality of 
opportunity between people from different groups.  There is also a requirement that public 
authorities foster good relations between people from different groups with protected 
characteristics.   This includes, for example, ensuring such groups have the ability to access 
information and eligible services on an equal basis and to have reasonable adjustments 
made to enable that to happen. The duty to ‘advance equality’ requires the council to be pro-
active in reducing inequalities.

The impact of, and response to, coronavirus will affect people differently, with evidence 
suggesting the impact will be disproportionately higher on those who are already 
disadvantaged in other ways. This assessment, therefore, considers how the Council and 
others can continue to meet the needs of all of our residents in these unprecedented times. 

This EIA assesses the impact of COVID-19 upon protected groups in Southend, by 
reviewing national and local evidence, where available. Much of the evidence used is 
formed of rapid data reviews – with new research being regularly published, so that the EIA 
will be regularly reviewed and revised to reflect this. Potential equality risks and impacts are, 
therefore, assessed for the nine protected characteristics (Disability; Age; Gender 
reassignment; Marriage and civil partnership; Pregnancy and maternity; Race; Religion or 
belief; Sex; Sexual orientation) and additional areas such as socio-economic and carers.  In 
addition, the cumulative impact on those in multiple groups is explored, where possible.

Key findings
Race – BAME groups are at highest risk of developing and dying from COVID-19 (ONS, 7 
May). Non-white individuals form 8.1% of Southend’s population (2011 Census). The risk is 
higher for certain groups than the general population by:

 3.24 times for Black African groups (2.1% of Southend residents).
 3.29 times for Pakistani groups (0.61% of Southend residents).
 2.21 times for Bangladeshi groups (0.54% of Southend residents).
 2.21 times for Black Caribbean groups (2.1% of Southend residents)
 1.7 times for Indian groups (1.04% of Southend residents).

Age – The majority of deaths involving COVID-19 have been among people aged 65 years 
and over (36,639 out of 41,220), with 46% (16,962) of these occurring in the over-85 age 
group.  Nationally, 35% of care home deaths are attributed to COVID-19. Southend’s care 
homes have seen 17 COVID-19 death registrations in 2020 (Until 8 May).  Residents aged 
70+ make up 15% (26,867 people) of Southend’s 184,882 residents (ONS Population 
projections, 2020).  For all age groups, including children, there are equal risks of 
contracting COVID-19 (ONS, 14 May). For children, while complication risks are lower, 

17

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/articles/coronaviruscovid19roundup/2020-03-26
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/datasets/deathregistrationsandoccurrencesbylocalauthorityandhealthboard
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/datasets/localauthoritiesinenglandtable2
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/coronaviruscovid19infectionsurveypilot/england14may2020#main-points


18

multiple factors exist which will result in long-term impact:
 Exposure to stress is most difficult for youngest children to manage and leads to an 

increased stress response, with long term negative impacts in multiple areas. 
 No current in-school provision for those with draft Education Health & Care Plan 

(EHCP) or needs assessment. 
 Risk of physical development delay due to overcrowding and reduced access to 

outdoor play. In Southend, 33.2% of households are in flats/maisonettes/apartments, 
or temporary accommodation.

Disability – This group are most likely to have underlying health conditions, raising risk. 
45.1% of disabled adults felt worried about COVID-19 vs a third of non-disabled adults, and 
two thirds (64.8%) felt these concerns affected wellbeing (ONS, 2020). There are 
messaging concerns for effective communication. PHE is analysing COVID-19 deaths of 
people with learning disabilities and autism as this impact is currently unpublished. 820 
working-age individuals in Southend receive Disability DWP payments, and 7490 receive 
ESA and incapacity benefits – however the true number of those with disabilities is higher as 
non-working age individuals are un-counted (DWP, 2016).

Sex – There are higher mortality rates for men than women. 63% of COVID-19 deaths have 
been among men (WHO, 2020). In Southend, 66.35% of COVID-19 deaths were male (1 
March - 11 April). Southend has 55,500 men of working age (16-64), and 50,100 who are 
economically active (IMD, 2019).  Women form the majority of the frontline health, social 
care and educational workforce and are more likely to be informal carers for children and 
elderly, so may face increased risk to contracting COVID-19.

Sexual orientation - Due to a number of health inequalities that LGBT people experience, 
some sections of LGBT communities may be at higher risk from being severely affected by 
the virus.
 LGBT people aged 50+ are more likely to be living with long-term health conditions 

(International Longevity Centre UK, 2019), increasing risk of serious illness.
 51% of those diagnosed with HIV are gay and bisexual men (THT, 2018). Severe 

COVID-19 could be greater for those not receiving HIV treatment (Avert, 2020).
 24% of homeless people aged 16-24 are LGBT, affecting ability to self-isolate and 

access care.
 52% of LGBT people experienced depression in 2017-18 (Stonewall, 2019). COVID-19 

related factors can cause detrimental effects for those living with long-term mental health 
conditions which disproportionately affect LGBT people. 

 Older LGBT people are more likely to be socially isolated, and LGBT people of all ages 
are more likely to have ‘chosen families’. Lockdown may lead to separation from those 
closest, or exposure to LGBTphobic families.

 LGBT Foundation’s helpline saw 70% more calls about transphobia and 36% more calls 
about homophobia this 16th March to 5th April than last year.

 
Socio-Economic – 6.15% of Southend’s 4963 households are ‘Families with limited 
resources who budget to make ends meet’, a group likely to face financial hardship during 

18

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsondisabledpeopleingreatbritain/2020-04-24
https://ilcuk.org.uk/dismay-as-new-report-reveals-that-health-inequalities-continue-to-disadvantage-older-lgbt-people/
https://www.tht.org.uk/hiv-and-sexual-health/about-hiv/hiv-statistics
https://www.avert.org/coronavirus/covid19-HIV
file:///C:/Users/laurendolphin/AppData/Roaming/Microsoft/Word/0%20https:/www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/lgbt_in_britain_health.pdf


19

the pandemic. Characteristics include; age 31-35, household income <£15k, with children, 
and routinely facing limited resources and tighter budgets.

Domestic Violence – Potential for increase in rates of domestic violence and abuse during 
shielding/lockdown. Can affect all, with women and LGBT individuals in highest risk groups.

Equality Impact Assessment on groups with protected characteristics

Impact -
Yes

Positive Negative Neutral No Unclear

Race X
Age X
Disability X
Gender reassignment X
Marriage and civil partnership X
Pregnancy and maternity X
Religion or belief X
Sex X
Sexual orientation X
Carers X
Socio-economic X

Descriptions of the protected characteristics are available in the guidance or from: 
EHRC - protected characteristics 

19

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/advice-and-guidance/further-and-higher-education-providers-guidance/protected-characteristics


20

Race
Impact

BAME The risk of death involving COVID-19 among some ethnic groups is significantly higher 
than that of those of White ethnicity. The disproportionate impact includes the majority 
of healthcare worker deaths being from BAME communities, and high numbers of 
healthcare workers testing positive (1.33% of patient-facing workers testing positive, 
ONS 14 May). Overrepresentation among critically ill COVID-19 patients, form 35% of all 
critical patients (The Intensive Care National Audit and Research Centre).

 Risk of developing and dying from COVID-19 for Black African groups was 3.24 
times higher than the general population; Pakistani groups by 3.29; Bangladeshi 
groups 2.21; Black Caribbean groups 2.21 higher, and Indian groups 1.7 times 
higher (Razaq, Harrison, Karunanithi, Barr, Asaria, Khunti, 2020).

 Black males are at 4.2 times more risk of death, Black females are at 4.3 times 
more risk than White ethnicity males and females (ONS, 7 May). After accounting 
for age, socio-demographic characteristics, health and disability measures, the risk 
of COVID-19 death for males and females of Black ethnicity reduced to 1.9 times 
more likely than those of White ethnicity (ONS, 7 May)

 Potential causes - overrepresentation in lower socio-economic groups, multi-family 
and multi-generational households, disproportionate employment in lower-band 
key worker roles, and co-morbidities (Razaq, Harrison, Karunanithi, Barr, Asaria, 
Khunti, 2020).

 37% of black people have no access to a private garden, patio or balcony during 
lockdown, compared to 10% of white people (ONS, 2020). Park closures would 
therefore disproportionately affect this group four times higher.

Southend race statistics:
The 2011 census show that non-white ethnicities form 8.1% of the population;

 2.1% Mixed / Multiple ethnic group (3651)
 2.1% Black / African / Caribbean / Black British (3,647)
 1.04% Asian / Asian British: Indian (1,810)
 0.89% Asian / Asian British: Other Asian (1,554)
 0.62% Asian / Asian British: Chinese (1,084)
 0.61% Asian / Asian British: Pakistani (1,059)
 0.54% Asian / Asian British: Bangladeshi (933)
 0.51% Other Ethnic Group (897)
 0.09% Gypsy / Traveller / Irish Traveller (162). 

Potential Mitigating Action:
 Recommendations from BME groups to back review using local real-time data.
 Recommendation to record protected characteristics of all patients in hospital.
 Government review into the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on black, Asian 

and minority ethnic has been announced. It will explore thousands of health 
records to review COVID-19 impacts by ethnicity alongside measures such as 

20

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/coronaviruscovid19infectionsurveypilot/england14may2020
https://www.icnarc.org/Our-Audit/Audits/Cmp/Reports
https://www.cebm.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/BAME-COVID-Rapid-Data-Evidence-Review-Final-Hidden-in-Plain-Sight-compressed.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/2march2020to10april2020#main-points
https://www.cebm.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/BAME-COVID-Rapid-Data-Evidence-Review-Final-Hidden-in-Plain-Sight-compressed.pdf
https://www.cebm.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/BAME-COVID-Rapid-Data-Evidence-Review-Final-Hidden-in-Plain-Sight-compressed.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseholdshasnogarden/2020-05-14


21

deprivation, age, gender, and obesity.
BAME 
(particularl
y Chinese 
or 
perceived 
Chinese).

 An increase in hate crime was predicted
SBC Provision:
 Information on reporting is available at: Essex police - how to report hate crime.
 Supporting  Police with comms messages around hate crime.
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Messages that promote positive contribution of BAME people during the crisis.

BAME – 
asylum 
seekers 

 Those with ‘No Recourse to Public Funds’ face additional barriers and insecurity as 
they cannot access life-saving refuges, and are barred from other forms of public 
support.

SBC Provision: 
 COVID-19 exempt from NHS charging – ensure this is communicated.

BAME with 
families 
abroad
 

 Isolation as unable to connect with families during reduced travel. 
 Sources of emotional and practical support reduced – particularly young families.
SBC Provision:
 Ensure inclusion in district hub arrangements for targeted/community support.
 All organisations with high level BAME workforce to promote workplace wellbeing 

support. Consider a message of acknowledgement to all staff with families overseas.
BAME, 
young, 
carers

 Economic impact when self-isolating/unable to work.
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Measures to mitigate financial hardship are essential for gig economy workers self-

isolating, with few protections in employment law. Are likely to be younger, from an 
ethnic minority, or have caring commitments.

Gypsy, 
Roma and 
travelling 
communiti
es

The term 'Gypsy, Roma and Traveller' (GRT) encompasses a wide range of individuals 
defined in relation to their ethnicity, heritage, way of life and how they self-identify. It 
includes English or Welsh Romany Gypsies, European Roma, Irish Travellers, Scottish 
Gypsy Travellers, New Age Travellers, Showpeople, People living on barges/boats, and 
some in settled accommodation (UK Parliament, 2019). Recognising this diversity is 
important to identifying, understanding and addressing the needs of individuals and the 
impact of measures within these communities. Some GRT individuals are particularly 
vulnerable and have the potential to be disproportionally impacted by COVID-19, in terms 
of:

 Adversely affected through income loss, limited health access and risk of contracting 
virus through transience.

 Social-distancing or self-isolation may be challenging due to often confined and 
communal households, and restricted living conditions.

 Access to amenities such as water to limit the virus spread may be less accessible.
 Restricted movement leads to loss of income, particularly for Showpeople 

communities.
 Less GP registration and higher levels of poor health.
 Traditional travelling season starts in early summer. Those on winter sites will still 

need to move. Some live permanently between two or more sites and may be forced 
to live in unsuitable locations such as residential roads.

 Site visits could put people at risk.
Potential Mitigating Action:

21

https://www.essex.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/hco/hate-crime/how-to-report-hate-crime/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmwomeq/360/full-report.html


22

 Targeted dialogue to ensure they are informed and supported.
 Monitor impact of holiday site closures on permanent residents. 
 One Council (Dorset) established a unit to monitor impact. 
SBC Provision:
 Follow government guidance in relation to mitigating impacts on gypsy and traveller 

communities.
 Southend Coronavirus Action on 01702 212497 – providing local infrastructure to 

deliver supplies to those people with no other means of support and to ensure that no-
one slips through the net. Residents are also able to access financial help, benefits, 
employment support and housing advice

 Caravan site owners are asked to keep sites open to allow people to remain if they 
would otherwise be homeless (Letter, Luke Hall MP).

Age
Elderly There is no evidence of differences in the proportions testing positive between the age 

categories (ONS, 14 May). However the elderly have greatest complication risk if they 
contract COVID-19, and are disproportionately affected by adverse impacts on service 
quality – with isolation, safety and wellbeing issues.
 Those aged 70+ form 15% (26,867 people) of Southend’s 184,882 residents. 
 6.58% of Southend’s 80,758 households are 76-80, live alone in small houses/flats, 

income <£15k, need support, and are not technology users.
 Providers need to consider “social distancing” impact on the human rights of older 

people. 
 Some have caring responsibilities 
 35% of care home deaths are COVID-19 attributed nationally. There are 10 COVID-19 

confirmed care home deaths recorded until April 26 in Southend. For all causes of 
death, Southend’s care homes saw 11 weekly deaths as an average early this year 
(Jan 1 to April 13). But peak weeks April 13 and 19, saw this rise to 28 then 24. 

SBC Provision: 
 Financial support to secure cash flow for care providers to manage the impact 

workforce absence, to continue to deliver care.
 Local resilience forum working to improve care home testing.

Working 
age men

53% of Southend’s COVID-19 confirmed deaths are working age (33.5 to 52.7, all 
genders) (ONS, March 1 to April 11). The WHO has reported that 63% of deaths have 
been among men, placing this group at particular risk.

Southend has 89,400 men; 55,500 are aged 16-64. This is also a known high risk group 
for suicide and least service engagement. Mental health implications are high, particularly 
those impacted by loss of earnings, and with social connecting activities unable to meet.

22

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/882564/COVID-19_-_mitigating_impacts_on_gypsy___traveller_communities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/876547/Letter_from_Minister_Hall_to_Caravan_Park_Owners.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/876547/Letter_from_Minister_Hall_to_Caravan_Park_Owners.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/coronaviruscovid19infectionsurveypilot/england14may2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand17april


23

Potential Mitigating Action:
 Support community organisations in finding alternative ways to provide wellbeing 

outreach/support to this cohort.
Young 
people

 Isolation - Increased anxiety and long term impact on mental health and wellbeing. 
 May not perceive risk.
 Less access to accurate news and information and/or overwhelmed by rumours. 
 Potential online safety risks may increase. 
 Likelihood of increased domestic violence in the home around and/or involving young 

people.
 Employees under 25 were 2.5 times as likely to work in a sector now closed (Institute 

of Fiscal Studies).
SBC Provision:
 Support for organisations working with young people.
 Mental health services need to seek different ways to support young people.
 Young people’s charities providing accurate and up to date information for young 

people in a young people friendly format. 
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Targeted communications from SBC about staying safe and social distancing for 

young people.
Children Smaller health risks than other groups, but greater long-term issues in multiple areas.

 Physical development delay due to overcrowding and reduced access to outdoor play. 
 Of all households in Southend (74,678), 33.2% are flats/maisonettes/apartments, or 

temporary accommodation.
 Increased exposure to stress – most difficult for youngest children to manage and 

leads to increased stress response with long term negative impacts.
 Potential for parents to permanently withdraw children from schooling
SBC Provision: 
 Southend charities providing accurate information for children (Child-friendly guide to 

COVID-19).
 School-Child contact for children most in need of consistent adult relationship.
Potential Mitigating Action: 
 Guidance for parents to be aware of their stress responses, and to recognise 

children’s signs of stress.
 Promotion and access to exercise, art, and other creative activities.
 Provide education, routine, and reassurance whilst limiting timetable expectations
 The temporary extension of FSM eligibility for children of families with no recourse to 

public funds.
Children 
with 
SEND 
(Special 
Educatio
nal 
Needs 
and 

The effects of school closures, medical equipment shortages and social distancing are 
amplified for families of children with disabilities.
 Some children may require medication, personal protective equipment (PPE, such as 

gloves and masks), home care, respite and rehabilitation services. These resources 
are scarce or unavailable given PPE shortages, delayed or cancelled dispensing of 
medical equipment, cancellation of respite and group programs and the potential for 
staffing shortages.

 A number of school staff and therapists may self-isolate or become unwell. 

23

https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14791
https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14791
https://abetterstartsouthend.co.uk/pips-guide-to-covid-19
https://abetterstartsouthend.co.uk/pips-guide-to-covid-19


24

Disability)  Where home support is available, families may suspend the service to limit exposure 
when staff are providing service in multiple homes. Reduced support and resources, 
may compound the physical and mental health challenges already experienced by the 
parents of, and children with disabilities.

 LAs have a legal duty to review and amend EHC plans when a child transfers from 
one phase of education to another. The Coronavirus Act does not alter timescales or 
legal process to comply with for EHC needs assessments or issuing EHC plans.

 The Coronavirus Act 2020 allows for the Secretary of State to temporarily disapply the 
requirement for an annual review of an EHC plan to be held where ‘appropriate’ and 
‘proportionate’, which could delayed revised plans to be in place for these children.

(See also Disability)
Mental 
illness/dis
abled/old
er people

 Redeployment of care professionals to respond to COVIID-19 places risk upon 
vulnerable older people and those living with mental health conditions exposed. 
[EHRC]

Potential Mitigating Action:
 Redeployment to support those at risk but not life critical.

Disability
Impact

All disabilities For all shielded, there are mental health risks of prolonged isolation. A third of 
disabled adults reported spending too much time alone during shielding. The non-
shielded yet vulnerable individuals risk contracting COVID-19 if making additional 
visits to access health services. 45.1% of disabled adults felt worried about COVID-
19 vs a third of non-disabled adults. Two thirds of disabled adults (64.8%) felt 
COVID-19 concerns affected their wellbeing (Opinions and Lifestyle survey, ONS, 
2020). 
COVID-19 related deaths are not routinely published for this group, in line with other 
protected groups.
Potential Mitigating Action:
PHE is analysing COVID-19 deaths of people with learning disabilities and autism.
 A learning disabilities mortality review will publish COVID-19 data.

Deaf 
people/Hard 
of Hearing

In-effective/non-practical communication forms the greatest risk to this group.
 Limited understanding of English; require information in BSL.
 Use of phone contact during social isolation is not suitable for people with 

profound/severe hearing loss.
 Facemasks are problematic for people who lip read.
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Where considered a ‘reasonable adjustment’, provide information in BSL video or 

Easy Read.
 BSL interpreter ‘in vision’ signing as part of important spoken word video/TV. 

24

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsondisabledpeopleingreatbritain/2020-04-24
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsondisabledpeopleingreatbritain/2020-04-24


25

 Ensure staff have basic BSL skills and know how to access a remote video 
interpreting service if likely to contact Deaf people. 

 Provide BSL video versions for key information on websites. Alternatively, allow 
Deaf people to access the remote video interpreting service (via a link on the 
webpage) in order to have key information about the pandemic from the website 
translated where this isn’t already provided in BSL video (it is probably more cost 
effective to produce BSL video translation for static information if there is 
demand).

 Include options for SMS contact to helplines etc.
 Recognise that for some, face to face visiting is the only option.
 Provide SMS and email contact routes.
 Provision of clear face masks needed
SBC provision:
 Information is available in different formats such as large print, Braille, BSL and 

different languages and dialects spoken in Southend. 
 BSL resources on Home Isolation produced by PHE (PHE resources).
 BSL users can talk to NHS111 using the InterpreterNOW app, or connect via a PC or 

laptop.
Partially 
sighted/Blind

Suitable means of communication not as widely available as for other groups. 
Potential risk of isolation as familiar things may change and put them at risk, e.g. 
shop layouts, items on shelves. Also if alone, will be wary of opening door to 
strangers.
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Priority/first tranche group for targeted support for people who are shielding?
SBC provision:
 Ensuring web based information compliance with new web accessibility legislation 

so that it works with screen-readers.
 Ensuring written information can be available in audio and large print where 

required, or via phone contact.
 The Southend Coronavirus Action (SCA) Helpline.
 Helpline advertised via a radio campaign

Long term 
health 
condition, (not 
shielded)

 Difficulties obtaining prescription medicines 
SBC Provision
 Local volunteer prescription delivery support
 Redeployed council staff working on the helpline are arranging prescription and 

medicine delivery.
Community 
support 
initiatives – 
dropping off 
prescriptions 
Learning 
disability or 
limited 
English 

 Few central government translations in Easy Read.
 Complex and changing information difficult to follow.
 Potential higher risk of falsely reported visitors (8 ‘residential visitors’ reports in 

Southend (25 Mar - 05 Apr). 
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Include an ‘alternative format statement’ in all correspondence.
 Hand washing guidance in Easy Read, Larger Print and BSL (handwashing 

guidance).
SBC response:

25

https://campaignresources.phe.gov.uk/resources/campaigns/101/resources/5080
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
https://interpreternow.co.uk/
http://interpreternow.co.uk/nhs111
http://interpreternow.co.uk/nhs111
http://interpreternow.co.uk/nhs111
http://interpreternow.co.uk/nhs111
http://interpreternow.co.uk/nhs111
http://interpreternow.co.uk/nhs111
http://interpreternow.co.uk/nhs111
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-on-social-distancing-and-for-vulnerable-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-on-social-distancing-and-for-vulnerable-people


26

language  Consistent, plain English in all communications, with information in Easy Read 
format.

 Providing information in different formats such as large print, Braille, British Sign 
Language and in the many different languages and dialects spoken in Southend 
on request or if known that the person requires it.

 Helpline has access to a foreign language telephone interpreting service.
 Information in community languages, matching NHS guidelines and Stay at Home 

guidance has been shared with Southend’s community groups (COVID-19 Info).
 Promotion of government/official guidance provided in alternative 

formats/languages (e.g Stay at home guidance).
SEND 
(Special 
Educational 
Needs and 
Disability) 

The children attending school constitutes a small proportion of children with special 
educational needs and disabilities, reduced support will have a profound impact on 
these families. The effects of school closures, medical equipment shortages and 
social distancing are amplified for families of children with disabilities.
 Some children may require medication, personal protective equipment (PPE, such 

as gloves and masks), home care, respite and rehabilitation services. These 
resources are scarce or unavailable given PPE shortages, delayed or cancelled 
dispensing of medical equipment, cancellation of respite and group programs and 
the potential for staffing shortages.

 A number of school staff and therapists may self-isolate or become unwell. 
 Where home support is available, families may suspend the service to limit 

exposure when staff are providing service in multiple homes. Reduced support 
and resources, may compound the physical and mental health challenges already 
experienced by the parents of, and children with disabilities.

 LAs have a legal duty to review and amend EHC plans when a child transfers 
from one phase of education to another. The Coronavirus Act does not alter 
timescales or legal process to comply with for EHC needs assessments or issuing 
EHC plans.

 The Coronavirus Act 2020 allows for the Secretary of State to temporarily 
disapply the requirement for an annual review of an EHC plan to be held where 
‘appropriate’ and ‘proportionate’, which could delayed revised plans to be in place 
for these children.

(See also Age – Children with SEND)
Potential Mitigating Action:
 School closure decisions should be taken only when ‘strictly necessary’ and for 

the shortest time possible, as set out in the legislation [EHRC].
 Relaxed regulations enabling this group to exercise more frequently than others 

throughout lockdown has been effective.
Neurodiversity 
and all groups 
with 
communicatio
n difficulties

 Lack of direct instruction and use of metaphor unhelpful. 
 Inconsistencies in messages can be confusing. 
 There have been numerous cases of information being changed slightly – for 

example “avoid all non-essential contact and travel” became “avoid all contact 
and non-essential travel” on BBC Spotlight. These subtle changes in the message 
can cause confusion. 

 Changes between 7 day and 14 day isolation has confused people as has 

26

https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/coronavirus-information/
https://campaignresources.phe.gov.uk/resources/campaigns/101/resources/5080


27

“essential work”, “travel to work when it can be done at home” and “critical work”.
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Use plain English and be direct and consistent - avoid changing messages 

without being clear of the reasons for the change.
 Ask that news/media follow these principles too.
 PHE is analysing COVID-19 deaths of people with learning disabilities and 

autism.
Neurodiverse 
people/autistic 
people

 Panic buying has resulted in certain food items becoming unavailable – impacting 
selective eaters. This creates stress for the individual and their household.

 May prefer to have the same care worker/point of contact. 
 Change in routine particularly difficult and can be traumatic
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Consider a point of contact for neurodiverse people, with training where 

necessary for shielded support.
 Consider needs of selective eaters if distributing food parcels.
 Wellbeing support for parents/carers under strain.

Neurodiverse 
people/autistic 
people/demen
tia

 Greater need for physical activity – particularly those with ADHD. Staying indoors 
might not be possible for all and thus may risk selves or others.

 Routine disruption can cause anxiety - sometimes leading to verbal or physical 
aggression to themselves or others. 

 Difficulty engaging those ‘not-known’ with support networks. At greater risk of 
isolation and lack of essentials if ill.

 Challenge for care homes with these specific resident groups to adhering to 
advice and policies.

Potential Mitigating Action:
 Advise police that autistic people and especially those with ADHD may find it 

difficult to comply, and may have fixed thinking patterns.
 Advise organisations to receive autism training for example, not to touch.

Dementia  Difficulties coping with change – particularly where affecting routine.
 Visitors unable to check in.
 Additional pressure of carers as day centres closed.

Potential Mitigating Action: 
 Priority/first tranche for targeted support for people who are shielding

Mental Health  Adjustments to delivery of psychological services
 Effects of confinement and social distancing – challenges for those with existing 

MH concerns, children, those with ASD.
 Impact of job insecurity
 Management of psychological difficulties incl. PTSD, confusion.
 SBC Internal workforce impact should be expected upon colleagues due to social 

distancing, homeworking with dependents, lockdown.
Potential Mitigating Action: 
 Appropriate and effective use of online services
 Mitigation of social isolation through promotion of online/telephone services
 Promotion of physical activity/exercise
 Mental health and domestic abuse support contacts.

27



28

SBC Response:
 SBC staff considerations include promoting organisational well-being for remote 

workforce. Promotion of individual and team self-care practices and MH first aider 
peer support. Team support and workload flexibility.

Gender reassignment

Marriage and civil partnership

Pregnancy and maternity

Impact
Gender 
reassignment

 Older LGBT people are more likely to be socially isolated, and LGBT people 
of all ages are more likely to have ‘chosen families’. Lockdown may lead to 
separation from those closest, or exposure to LGBTphobic families.

 LGBT Foundation’s helpline saw 70% more calls about transphobia this 
16th March to 5th April than last year.

Social distancing may have a higher impact for transgender people who:
 Are older and rely on external contacts for social contact in care settings.
 Are hospitalised, as suitable hospital bed availability may be affected.
 Are older and have experienced discrimination. Social distancing of 

providers may reinforce a sense of stigma. 
Potential Mitigating Action:
To promote and support LGBT helplines and services linking LGBT people to 
provide social contact over the phone/online.

Impact
Marriage and civil 
partnership

No differential impact anticipated.
Potential Mitigating Action: N/A

Impact
Pregnancy and 
maternity

 There may be a reluctance/inability to access sexual health clinics and 
hospital including dealing with unplanned pregnancy.

 Potential fear and anxiety due to media report of deaths in hospitals.
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Pregnant women and on maternity leave, should not be disadvantaged in 

28



29

Religion or Belief

Impact
Faith/religion 
and belief

Social distancing may impact religious groups differently, for example, where it is more 
important in some religions that the person sees their family or a religious or spiritual 
leader or official when nearing death and reduced ability to observe religious practice at 
end of life / funeral in cases of excess deaths.
 Mosaic data for Southend identifies the groups more likely to be part of a religious 

group. These three groups are all aged 56-80, and include:
 Elderly people with assets who are enjoying a comfortable retirement (11.4% of 

Southend’s households).
 Families in large detached homes (6.98% of Southend’s households).
 Residents of settled urban communities (4.98% of Southend’s households). 
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Use guidance, and note that cremation is not acceptable under Islam.
 Information is available from the Muslim Council of Britain: in particular note the 

potential need to identify land for burial.
 Consulting with faith/belief groups on plans/policy - two groups have been set up for 

Southend, one for the community at which council representation is not requested 
and, another for the local authority leads.

 Southend’s excess death support is to work closely with faith groups and 
community leads.

Sex

their careers by following government advice to stay at home [EHRC].
 Clarity over attending health appointments, screenings 
 Clear communication with health providers..

Impact
Men Studies are seeing that more men are being affected by COVID-19 than women in 

deaths. The WHO has reported that 63% of deaths have been among men. In 
Southend 66.35% of COVID-19 deaths in Southend were male between 1st March 
and April 11th. Of 80 confirmed COVID-19 deaths in Southend 53 were male, and 27 
female (March 1 - April 11). Southend has 89,400 males, 55,500 are of working age 
(16-64), and 50,100 are economically active.
Potential Mitigating Action:
A Public Health England review has been announced. It will explore thousands of 
health records to review COVID-19 impacts, this will include gender, alongside 
measures such ethnicity, deprivation, age, and obesity.

29

https://religionmediacentre.org.uk/factsheets/death-funeral-rituals-in-world-religions/
https://mcb.org.uk/community/burialfaqs/
https://mcb.org.uk/community/burialfaqs/


30

Sexual orientation
Impact:

LGBT While there is no robust evidence to demonstrate that LGBT people are more likely to 
catch COVID-19 or that mortality rates are higher in LGBT communities, however, 
due to a number of health inequalities that LGBT people experience, some sections of 
LGBT communities may be at higher risk from being severely affected by the virus.

Women According to the Institute of Fiscal Studies and Resolution Foundation low-paid, 
young people and women in the UK are likely to be the hardest hit by the 
coronavirus shutdown economically. Women were a third more likely to work in a 
sector now shut down. 17% of female employees were in such sectors, compared to 
13% of male employees. Southend has 93,100 females, 56,200 are of working age, 
and 50,100 are economically active.
In addition to economic impact:
 Women make up the majority of the frontline health and social care workforce, so 

may be disproportionately likely to contract COVID-19
 Women are more likely to be informal carers for older or disabled people, who are 

more likely to have serious illness as a result of COVID-19.
 Women still bear the majority of caring responsibilities for both children and older 

relatives. With schools and nurseries now closing, the need for this unpaid work 
will only increase in the weeks to come. 

 Shortage of care services (childcare, healthcare, elderly care) will have a 
disproportionate impact on women as providers of unpaid care work. Coronavirus 
will exacerbate a situation where cuts to public spending have already fallen on 
women. [Amnesty]

 There may be lapses in breast/cervical screening, increasing cancer risks.
 Increased risk of domestic abuse (Expanded upon with LGBT below).
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Women, including pregnant women and on maternity leave, should not be 

disadvantaged in their careers by following stay at home advice [EHRC].
 Clarity over attending screening/written reminders.
 Clarity over accessing sexual health and family planning centres.

Women, 
young 
people, 
neurodiverse
/learning 
disability, 
homeless, 
mental ill 
health etc.

This intersectional vulnerable group face increased risks in criminal exploitation:
 Modern slavery/trafficking and cuckooing as fewer people around to witness 

unusual activity.. 
 Perpetrators taking advantage of fewer visitors to a vulnerable person’s home.
 Evidence of exploitation of domestic workers in other countries – e.g. being 

forced to work without a break.
Potential Mitigating Action:
Train postal workers and delivery drivers in spotting signs as these workers remain 
out and about. The same action could be taken to raise awareness of safeguarding 
and DVA.

30

https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14791
https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/press-releases/women-the-young-and-low-paid-workers-are-bearing-the-biggest-health-and-economic-risks-from-the-coronavirus-crisis/


31

This cohort already experiences higher levels of loneliness and poor mental health, 
there is also a high likelihood of intersectionality of LGBT needs across other areas.
 Lockdown impacts poorly on LGBT youth – if not ‘out’ in family. Risk of isolation, 

self-harming, and unsafe online activity to socialise. Also an issue for adults in 
households where feel isolated from other LGBT people.

 LGBT people aged 50+ are more likely to be living with long-term health conditions 
(International Longevity Centre UK, 2019), increasing risk of getting seriously ill.

 51% of those diagnosed with HIV are gay and bisexual men (THT, 2018). Severe 
COVID-19 could be greater for those not receiving HIV treatment (Avert, 2020).

 24% of homeless people aged 16-24 are LGBT, affecting the ability to self-isolate 
and access care.

 52% of LGBT people experienced depression in 2017-18 (Stonewall, 2019). 
COVID-19 related factors can cause detrimental effects for those living with long-
term mental health conditions which disproportionately affect LGBT people. 

 Social distancing’ can have a greater impact for LGBT older people who rely on 
external social networks for advocacy/social contact in care settings  

 Older LGBT people are more likely to be socially isolated, and LGBT people of all 
ages are more likely to have ‘chosen families’. Lockdown may lead to separation 
from those closest, or exposure to LGBTphobic families.

 LGBT Foundation’s helpline saw 70% more calls about transphobia and 36% more 
calls about homophobia this 16th March to 5th April than last year.

Potential Mitigating Action:
 To promote and support LGBT helplines and services linking up LGBT people to 

provide social contact over the phone/online. For example NHS Advice on mental 
health issues if you're gay, lesbian, bisexual or trans.

 Share COVID-19 advice specifically targeted for people with HIV, such as 
https://www.bhiva.org/BHIVA-and-THT-statement-on-COVID-19-and-advice-for-
the-extremely-vulnerable

 Support youth organisations to provide safe means for LGBT young people to stay 
in touch.

 Highlight issues for equality groups in guidance and communications

31

https://ilcuk.org.uk/dismay-as-new-report-reveals-that-health-inequalities-continue-to-disadvantage-older-lgbt-people/
https://www.tht.org.uk/hiv-and-sexual-health/about-hiv/hiv-statistics
https://www.avert.org/coronavirus/covid19-HIV
file:///C:/Users/laurendolphin/AppData/Roaming/Microsoft/Word/0%20https:/www.stonewall.org.uk/system/files/lgbt_in_britain_health.pdf
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/stress-anxiety-depression/mental-health-issues-if-you-are-gay-lesbian-or-bisexual/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/stress-anxiety-depression/mental-health-issues-if-you-are-gay-lesbian-or-bisexual/
https://www.bhiva.org/BHIVA-and-THT-statement-on-COVID-19-and-advice-for-the-extremely-vulnerable
https://www.bhiva.org/BHIVA-and-THT-statement-on-COVID-19-and-advice-for-the-extremely-vulnerable


32

Domestic 
abuse - 
LGBT and 
women  as 
higher risk 
groups

Anticipated impact includes increased domestic violence and abuse during 
shielding/lockdown. Potentially fuelled by income loss, frustration, increased anxiety 
leading to drug/alcohol abuse. Abusers could take advantage of victim’s reduced 
social interaction with others. Women are at higher risk of sexual exploitation and 
abuse. Adolescent girls at increased risk of forced marriage, FGM and abuse during 
school closure. In some cases FGM has been used against lesbian/gay women.
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Maintain dialogue with DVA agencies. 
 Extra housing for DVA victims needing to isolate.
 Communications about DVA (both perpetrator behaviour and help sources). The 

Southend response has included A “Stay Safe at Home” campaign has been 
launched countywide by Essex Police. This is being shared by the Council. Part of 
the campaign focuses on domestic abuse and this part will be communicated 
locally.

 Innovation in China and Italy - utilising technology to address DVA.
 Staff can speak to their manager if homeworking is an issue of risk or health, with 

signpost to support sources (Internal Page - Working from home guidance). 
Make adjustments to enable staff to work safely, including working from council 
buildings if appropriate. 

Carers / People with caring responsibilities
Impact

Carers The clearing of hospitals to make way for coronavirus patients by releasing people 
early will put strain on carers. Changes to the quality or availability of health and social 
care services during the COVID 19 outbreak will impact upon informal carers.
(Also see Race - BAME, young, carers.)
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Ensure care plans are in place and information is provided on where to get 

support/adaptive aids.
 Responses to the preparedness of services to deal with increased numbers of 

people will have an impact on carers.

Socio-Economic
Impact

Low income 
families

According to the Institute of Fiscal Studies and Resolution Foundation low-paid, young 
people and women in the UK are likely to be the hardest hit by the coronavirus 
shutdown economically.
 Low earners are 7x more likely work in shutdown sectors. A third of employees in 

the bottom 10% of earnings work in shut down sectors versus just 5% of those in 
the top ten per cent.

 ‘Panic buying’ affects those unable to stockpile – Leading to more trips. 

32

http://seattle/Pages/working-from-home-guidance.aspx
https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/14791
https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/press-releases/women-the-young-and-low-paid-workers-are-bearing-the-biggest-health-and-economic-risks-from-the-coronavirus-crisis/


33

 Public transport use brings greater risk, compounded with lower income jobs – 
including essential such as caring and retail (groceries).

 6.15% (4963 households) of Southend’s 80,758 households fall are ‘Families with 
limited resources who budget to make ends meet’. Characteristics include; age 31-
35, Terraced property, Household income <£15k, with children, Limited resources, 
Low cost home ownership/renting, often squeezed budgets.

 Southend residents are impacted by lack of private outside space. Particularly 
Victoria ward, where 39% of households have no private outside space, and 22% 
in Southend Central (ONS, 2020)

Potential Mitigating Action:
 Community support – foodbanks. Wider initiatives being implemented such as 

supermarket rationing and government support e.g. council tax relief.
 Keeping allotments open – many people ‘grow their own’ helping maintain food 

supply, and contribute to good health and wellbeing. Social distancing can be 
enforced on allotments by asking people to stay strictly on their own plots and 
having a safe system of unlocking the gate

 Free school meals available as supplies or vouchers.
Rural 
communities

Social distancing is easier to apply in a rural setting. Policies addressing social 
distancing issues in an urban setting could have an unnecessary disproportionate 
economic/wellbeing impact in a rural setting.
Potential Mitigating Action:
 To alert government of policies where it could be beneficial to adapt a different 

approach in a rural setting.
Homeless 
people (often 
mental 
health/neuro-
diverse/care 
leavers)

This group is more at risk of illness/ill health in general, and may be unable to self-
isolate or maintain social distancing. There may be challenge in accessing information 
and advice. Reduced town centre footfall may also raise tensions amongst the 
homeless community who may have experienced a drop in income. 
Potential Mitigating Action:
 Targeted support via homeless charities/district housing staff.
 Availability for accommodation via empty hotels/B&Bs
 All of Southend’s known rough sleepers were placed into accommodation. A media 

release was issued and can be read on our website

Sources and further Reading:
 LGiU briefing - local government and COVID-19, issues for disadvantaged groups
 BBC News: Are minorities being hardest hit by coronavirus?
 BMJ blog: How can we involve communities in managing the COVID-19 pandemic?
 Coronavirus (COVID-19) guidance for the charity sector
 Guidance on Hardship Fund
 Mayor of London: Information on Covid-19 for non-UK nationals
 Race Equality Foundation: Coronavirus information and resources
 Runnymede Trust: Coronavirus will increase race inequalities, Zubaida Haque
 Scottish Community Development Centre: What community groups are telling us about 

their response to COVID-19
 Scottish government emergency help for those most affected by coronavirus

33

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseholdshasnogarden/2020-05-14
https://www.southend.gov.uk/news/article/1898/rough_sleepers_in_southend_are_all_accommodated
https://www.southend.gov.uk/news/article/1898/rough_sleepers_in_southend_are_all_accommodated
https://lgiu.org/briefing/local-government-and-covid-19-issues-for-disadvantaged-groups/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-52219070
https://blogs.bmj.com/bmj/2020/03/17/how-can-we-involve-communities-in-managing-the-covid-19-pandemic/
https://lgiu.org/briefing/local-government-and-covid-19-issues-for-disadvantaged-groups/Coronavirus%20(COVID-19)%20guidance%20for%20the%20charity%20sector
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-confirms-500-million-hardship-fund-will-provide-council-tax-relief-for-vulnerable-households
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/eu-londoners-hub/information-covid-19-non-uk-nationals
https://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/health-care/coronavirus-information-and-resources/
https://www.runnymedetrust.org/blog/coronavirus-will-increase-race-inequalities
https://www.scdc.org.uk/news/article/2020/3/23/what-community-organisations-are-telling-us-about-their-covid-19-responses
https://www.scdc.org.uk/news/article/2020/3/23/what-community-organisations-are-telling-us-about-their-covid-19-responses
https://www.gov.scot/news/emergency-help-for-those-worse-affected-by-coronavirus/


34

 Equality human rights - How we're responding coronavirus pandemic
 New law journal- COVID-19 impact on protected groups 
 BPS - Psychological impact of social distancing - gender, sexuality and relationship 

diversity
 BPS - Responding to the coronavirus - psychological impact on older people.
 BPS - Coronavirus and UK schools closures support and advice.
 CEBM - BAME COVID Rapid Data Evidence Review - Hidden in Plain Sight 
 Resolution foundation - Women, the young, and low-paid workers are bearing the 

biggest health and economic risks from the coronavirus crisis
 ONS - Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection Survey pilot: England, 14 May 2020
 ONS - Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by ethnic group, England and Wales: 2 

March 2020 to 10 April 2020 (7 May)
 ONS Economy  Environmental accounts  One in eight British households has no garden 

- 2020-05-14

34

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/our-work/blogs/how-were-responding-coronavirus-pandemic
https://www.newlawjournal.co.uk/content/covid-19-impact-on-protected-groups
https://www.bps.org.uk/blogs/guest/psychological-impact-social-distancing-gender-sexuality-and-relationship-diverse
https://www.bps.org.uk/blogs/guest/psychological-impact-social-distancing-gender-sexuality-and-relationship-diverse
https://www.bps.org.uk/sites/www.bps.org.uk/files/Policy/Policy%20-%20Files/Responding%20to%20the%20coronavirus%20-%20psychological%20impact%20on%20older%20people.pdf
https://www.bps.org.uk/sites/www.bps.org.uk/files/Policy/Policy%20-%20Files/Coronavirus%20and%20UK%20schools%20closures%20-%20support%20and%20advice.pdf
https://www.cebm.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/BAME-COVID-Rapid-Data-Evidence-Review-Final-Hidden-in-Plain-Sight-compressed.pdf
https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/press-releases/women-the-young-and-low-paid-workers-are-bearing-the-biggest-health-and-economic-risks-from-the-coronavirus-crisis/
https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/press-releases/women-the-young-and-low-paid-workers-are-bearing-the-biggest-health-and-economic-risks-from-the-coronavirus-crisis/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/coronaviruscovid19infectionsurveypilot/england14may2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/2march2020to10april2020#main-points
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/2march2020to10april2020#main-points
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseholdshasnogarden/2020-05-14
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseholdshasnogarden/2020-05-14


Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 1 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

Southend-on-Sea Borough Council
Report of Executive Director (Finance & Resources)

To
Cabinet

On
9 June 2020

Report prepared by: 
Pete Bates, Interim Head of Corporate Finance

Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19
All Scrutiny Committees

Cabinet Members: Councillor Ian Gilbert 
Part 1 (Public Agenda Item)

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide a high-level initial assessment of the local financial impact of Covid- 
19.  It remains an evolving and fast-moving situation as the Council continues to 
respond positively to the crisis and to try to minimise as far as possible the 
impact on local residents and businesses of Southend-on-Sea.  Consideration 
is now also turning to transitioning to our restoration phase and the future 
sustainability of whatever the ‘new normal’ will eventually look like.  

1.2 To outline the Council’s initial response to managing the scale of the financial 
challenge over the short and medium term, whilst recognising that the range of 
assumptions and understanding of the complexities of the many contributing 
factors are under constant review. 

2 Recommendations

That Cabinet:

2.1 Note the Council’s initial assessment of the local financial impact of the 
unprecedented challenges that has been caused by the pandemic.    

2.2 Note the proposed tactical and strategic response to managing the 
financial challenges. 

2.3 Agree to receive regular reports to future Cabinet meetings, which will 
provide updated assessments on our financial position and outline any 
changes to our strategy and range of assumptions. 

Agenda
Item No.

4

35

5



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 2 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

3 Introduction

3.1 It is far too early to assess the overall health and economic impact of Covid-19.  
The challenge is clearly worldwide, and national governments continue to 
wrestle with putting in place the right package of measures to save lives and to 
try to minimise the spread of the virus and its impact across the population.  
Consideration is now also turning to how they can safely get their respective 
economies working again.  In the United Kingdom, local government, working in 
partnership with other agencies and local communities continue to have a 
critical role to play in responding to the crisis.  We will be at the forefront of 
implementing the relaxation to any lockdown arrangements, shaping the 
transition and recovery within a new national framework.

3.2 The current financial landscape and operating environment is challenging and 
uncertain but the Council is determined to build on our positive initial local 
response to the crisis and to try to ensure that the key elements that will lead to 
a stronger recovery for our town, our local residents and our local businesses 
are in place.  Our Southend 2050 ambition and ongoing review of arrangements 
for delivering the road map of priority projects is not only still relevant but also 
crucial for Southend-on-Sea’s future prosperity.  Effectively managing the short 
and medium term financial challenges that Covid-19 has brought to the Borough 
will be an important factor in our future success.

3.3 This report highlights the immediate local financial impact and attempts to 
estimate the implications over the medium term based on a range of complex 
and ever-changing assumptions.  The report also outlines at a high level how 
the Council is proposing to deal with this additional financial challenge.  Some 
financial commitments as part of our immediate local response can be 
categorised as a one-off cost but it is currently estimated that the original 
lockdown arrangements could cost the Authority around £2.5M - £3.0M each 
month.  

3.4 Consideration is now being given to the financial impact of the careful phasing 
of the relaxation of the lockdown measures.  This includes the transition to the 
new normal, the impact on activity levels (particularly income) and then any 
currently potentially hidden demand for key social care services that might 
result directly from the isolation and stress caused locally by the pandemic.  At 
this early stage, the estimated total cost to the Council for 2020/21 is very 
difficult to quantify.  Building up a financial assessment of the impact of the 
easing of the lockdown measures, together with a potential increase in social 
care pressures, the added difficulty of delivering recovery savings plans and the 
impact on income collection, then the total cost could be in the region of £15M 
to £20M on the Council’s budget for 2020/21. 

3.5 We are working hard to reduce our financial exposure in lower priority areas but 
at the same time trying to make sure that we are doing all we realistically can to 
support our residents and local businesses.  Some early future planning has 
already commenced to try to limit the potential permanent damage to our 
revenue base and to look at the longer-term impacts on our Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

36



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 3 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

4 Central Government Support, Initiatives and New Requirements

4.1 From around the middle of March 2020, there have been numerous regular 
announcements by the Government that have touched almost every part of 
normal daily life.  The range of financial support provided to Local Government 
has effectively been made up of three types, passported funding, additional 
direct grant and cashflow support.  Passported funding is where the Local 
Authority is given funding by Central Government to be ‘passported’ to residents 
and businesses, against a range of criteria that is usually set nationally. 
Additional direct grant has been provided to help Local Authorities deal with a 
range of emergency expenditure pressures or income reductions in their base 
budgets because of Covid-19. Cashflow support has been provided by the 
Government in advancing grant payments to us in the early part of the financial 
year where we would normally receive these monthly or quarterly over the 
course of the financial year. They have also allowed us to defer our payments 
for Business Rates to the Treasury until later in the year.

4.2 The Government have also introduced a requirement for monthly returns to be 
submitted by every Local Authority, in an attempt to get a better understanding 
of the financial impact at a local level but probably more significantly at an 
overall Local Government Sector level.  The contents of these returns will help 
to identify the key pressures, risks, and indicative scale of financial impact.  The 
Government are also interested in how individual Authorities are using the 
emergency grant funding that has been issued.

4.3 The initial return was due on 15th April and was a very simple light touch 
request.  Our response contained our very early assessment at that stage, 
together with a range of assumptions and comments.  The scale nationally is 
clearly huge, and the collective initial returns directly influenced the 
announcement of a 2nd tranche of £1.6 Billion emergency grant funding 
nationally for the Local Government Sector.  

4.4 Southend-on-Sea were selected as one of only a handful of Local Authorities to 
review and comment on the data collection development prior to the second 
return being released.  Our input has been acknowledged and some of our 
comments were taken forward by MHCLG.  The second return was a much 
more substantial request for information and was submitted on 15th May.  The 
key headlines from our submission forms the basis of the financial assumptions 
contained within this report.  Each month we will be able to update and refine 
the content of our submissions as our intelligence and understanding grows of 
the local financial implications. 

5 Financial Assessment and Assumptions 

5.1 One of the key changes in the assumptions to the May return was that it was 
specified that all responses should be based on lockdown continuing until the 
end of July 2020 and then assuming that everything returns to pre Covid-19 
activity levels.  This was done to try and achieve more consistency across the 
sector but clearly this approach also has its shortcomings, which were 
highlighted. 

37



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 4 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

Our estimated pressures and areas of service impact in the May return was 
reported in % terms as follows: -

Adult Social Care – 33%
Children’s Social Care – 19%
Highways & transport – 19%
Risk to Recovery Plans – 12%
Environment & Regulatory – 5%
Education – 3%
Rough Sleepers – 3%
Shielding – 2%
Culture Related – 2%
Planning & Development – 1%
Finance & Corporate -1% 

5.2 The Council’s estimated service only challenges due to Covid-19 was requested 
to be split into expenditure and income pressures.  Our return to MHCLG was 
based on our revised estimates up to the end of July 2020.  In headline terms 
we reported £11.6M of direct Covid-19 expenditure pressures (Including risk to 
recovery savings plans) and a £4.1M reduction in direct income levels (sales, 
fees & charges).  So, in total we have estimated £15.7M potential pressures, 
against an initial un-ringfenced grant allocation of circa £10.5M to the end of 
July 2020.  We assessed all our estimates as Amber at this stage of the year. 

5.3 The following bar chart illustrates the impact of this assessment against our 
approved service budget for 2020/21.  Although not included in the return we 
have also estimated that the total cost for the whole year could be in the region 
of £20M.  This is based on a complex series of assumptions and the best 
information available at the time of writing this report.  The key concern is the 
currently forecasted £5.2M (shaded green) unfunded pressure to the end of July 
2020, which could be around £9.5M by the end of 2020/21.  Understanding the 
direct and indirect impact on local demand and the potential permanent 
pressures on the revenue base of the Council is still difficult to determine. 
Obviously as the situation develops and some lockdown measures are 
gradually lifted, the actual financial impact on the Council will be re-assessed. 

- 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 120,000 140,000 160,000

Full Year

To the end of July

Budget approved

Approved budget Covid grant Additional pressure

Initial Assessment of the Financial impact of Covid-19

Amount £000s

Es
tim

at
es

38



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 5 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

5.4 The key headline financial support announced so far from Central Government 
for Southend-on-Sea Borough Council and the local area is summarised in 
Sections 6 and 7 of this report. 

6 Central Government Passported Funding (Total £79,092,378)

The following table summarises the different elements of passported funding 
which has either already been received or will be 100% refunded via a Section 
31 grant for the identified Discount Schemes.  The remaining paragraphs in this 
section of the report provide some insight into the funding levels and the current 
status locally.

Announcement Local Allocation (£)
Business Rates Grants* 45,512,250
SBG, RHLG, Retail & Nursery Discount Schemes # 27,223,000
Council Tax Hardship 1,661,945
Top-Up Grants to Businesses* (5% of £38,835,000) 1,941,750
Business Improvement Districts Support 18,750
Infection Control for Adult Social Care 2,734,683

Total 79,092,378
* 5% of intended spend of Business Rates Grant Allocation used to Fund Top-Up Grants to 
Businesses
# To be refunded via a Section 31 Grant.

6.1 Business Rates Grants - £47,454,000 (Revised £45,512,250)

As at 31 May, £35.245m had been paid out in response to 2,885 legitimate 
grant applications.  Our teams are also continuing to contact eligible 
businesses by phone/email and social media to encourage them to get in 
touch and apply for the remaining available grants.  At the time of writing this 
report we were waiting on further details from 47 local businesses to finalise 
their payments.  All new applications are reviewed on the day they arrive. 

We have also done a local assessment of all our eligible businesses which 
indicates that we probably should have received around a £38,835,000 grant 
allocation rather than the £47,454,000 that we have received.  A further 
£1,941,750 has now been earmarked from our initial allocation and confirmed 
by BEIS to be used to fund the Top-up Grants to Businesses which was 
announced on 30th April (See Section 6.3).  We are then assuming that any 
remaining funding from our initial allocation will need to be returned to 
Government. A discretionary policy to allocate these new funds is being 
developed in co-production with various Southend business networks and 
once approved will enable the payment of these grants.   

39



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 6 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

6.2 Expanded Retail Discount and Nursery Discount Schemes (100% 
business rates relief for 2020/21) - £27,223,000

The Government announced several initiatives to support businesses in these 
various categories and sectors.  All local Authorities have been assured that this 
support, which has been passported in the form of 100% business rates relief 
direct to the bills for eligible businesses for 2020/21 in their local area will be 
100% refunded.  This will be in the form of a Section 31 grant.  The 
arrangements for the new rates bills was finalised at the end of May 2020, after 
finally receiving the required systems patch from our external supplier. However 
due to the delay early indication was provided to all known eligible businesses 
and all direct debit arrangements were cancelled in advance of finalising the 
bills, therefore reducing the uncertainty and concern for these local businesses. 
In headline terms as at the 31st May 1,086 businesses have benefited from 
Retail, Hospitality and Leisure business rates relief with a value of £24,849,894 
and 19 from Nursery business rates relief with a value of £139,342.

6.3 Council Tax Hardship Funding - £1,661,945 

The Government’s expectation is that billing authorities will provide all local 
recipients of working age local council tax support (‘LCTS’) during the financial 
year 2020-21 with a further reduction in their annual council tax bill of £150. 
This will be achieved by Local Authorities using their discretionary powers to 
reduce the liability of council taxpayers outside of their formal LCTS scheme 
design.  

Southend-on-Sea as at 20 May had 8,386 working age claimants, 8,330 
received the full £150 (£1,249,500) and 56 received an award up to the £150 
(£2,699.25) due to their council tax liability being lower than the hardship 
payment.  The total amount of funding currently allocated is £1,252,199.25.  
We are experiencing an increase in claimant numbers almost every day and 
priority will be given to pass on this £150 reduction to these new eligible 
claimants.  In April 2019, the number of eligible working age claimants was 
only 6,200 – so there has been an increase of 2,186 (35%), over the last 12 
months, with a significant spike occurring from around the middle of April 2020.

We are currently running with a 48% increase in claims so far for the month of 
May 2020 compared to the same time in 2019.  Phone calls have slowed down 
and are now on a par with 2019 levels, however we are requesting all claims to 
be made online and only the extremely vulnerable and those with no internet 
access to use the phone lines.

Any remaining balance of this funding will initially be held in reserve for future 
claims but could be used to supplement the Council’s existing Essential Living 
Fund (ELF) for our most vulnerable residents in 2020/21.  To provide some 
context for the month of April 2020, we received 377 ELF applications (a 370% 
increase compared to April 2019) and 497 ELF General Telephone Calls (a 
93% increase compared to April 2019).

40



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 7 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

6.4 Top-up Grants to Businesses - £1,941,750

On 30 April, the Business Secretary and Minister for Local Government 
announced £617m (5% on top of the £12bn already committed to business 
support grants) additional funding for local authorities.  The funding is to 
provide top-up grants to businesses in their local areas not covered by the 
Small Business Grant Fund (SBGF) or Retail, Hospitality & Leisure Grant 
(RHLG) scheme.  It has recently been confirmed that this will be funded from 
the balance of the initial £47,454,000 Business Rates Grant allocation (See 
Section 6.1).  

We are disappointed about the size of the allocation we have received, given 
the nature and volume of small local businesses which potentially meet the 
initial headline criteria announced by the Government.  We have expressed 
our concerns directly to BEIS about how this allocation was calculated in that it 
fails to consider local circumstances.

Authorities will have local discretion, but are expected to use funds in their 
area, subject to local economic need, focusing on small businesses (under 50 
employees) with ongoing fixed property costs (e.g. those in shared spaces, 
markets, small charity properties, and B&Bs subject to council tax).  Grant 
payments can be for £25k, £10k, or any amount under £10k. However, given 
our limited allocation of just under £2M and the priority businesses this new 
funding is aimed at we anticipate a relatively small sum will be available for 
discretionary use to support other businesses.   

6.5 Business Improvement Districts Support - £18,750

On 1 May, the High Streets Minister announced that Business Improvement 
Districts (BIDs) will receive a total of £6.1m of additional funding to support 
core costs for a three-month period.  Local authorities will receive funding via a 
s31 grant to be passed to local BIDs.  The government has already delayed 
BID ballots, extending existing BID arrangements until 31 March 2021. 

6.6 Infection Control Fund for Adult Social Care - £2,734,683

On 13 May, the Prime Minister announced an additional £600m fund to help 
‘lockdown’ care homes.  The planned proposals are to distribute our share of 
the funding to support local care providers. The vast majority (92%) will go 
directly to local businesses providing care in Southend to Southend residents.  
75% will go directly to all care homes in Southend (£2.05m) – this is a 
requirement of the funding.  A further 10% will go directly to all home care 
providers in Southend (£0.273m).  7% will go directly to supported living 
providers in Southend working with people placed by Southend Borough 
Council (£0.192m).  The remaining funding (8% - £0.219m) will be used to 
fund additional infection control professional advisors for Southend care 
providers and to also provide additional out of hours escalation support.

41



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 8 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

7 Central Government Additional Direct Grant - Total £10,619,524 plus 
awaiting two allocations)

The following table summarises the different elements of direct grant funding 
that has been received.  The remaining paragraphs in this section of the report 
provide some insight into the funding levels and the current status locally.

Announcement Local Allocation (£)
Emergency Grant Funding (Tranche 1) 5,393,935
Emergency Grant Funding (Tranche 2) 5,062,493
Most Vulnerable in Society Support Awaiting allocation 
New Test and Trace Service Awaiting allocation
Reopening High Streets Safely Fund 163,096

Total 10,619,524

7.1 Emergency Grant Funding (Tranche 1) - £5,393,935 (Received 27/03/20)

We have already or are planning to use this emergency grant funding for 
several one-off initiatives.  We have earmarked the remainder of this grant to 
help offset some of the additional challenges we are facing in delivering the 
recovery plans for Children’s, Adults and Highways and Transport.  It is not 
expected that any of this grant allocation will be available to help to mitigate 
the impact of the significant reductions we are experiencing in fees and 
charges income. 

The initial one-off investments include circa £1.200M to support the Adult 
Social Care Provider Market, £0.200M contribution for the temporary Regional 
Mortuary, £0.220M Food Distribution Centre, £0.370M Accommodation for 
Rough Sleepers and £0.180M Leisure and Cultural support. 

7.2 Emergency Grant Funding (Tranche 2) - £5,062,493 (Received 15/05/20)

This is our share of the 2nd tranche of the £1.6 Billion emergency grant 
funding.  It has provided a bit of extra initial breathing space but the potential 
scale of the local financial impact, which is dependent on so many factors, 
means that it is almost certain that further financial support will be required. 
The potential scale of our financial challenge is illustrated in Section 5.3. 

It is expected that this extra allocation will be required to help meet any 
additional one off Covid-19 emergency response pressures but also to start to 
support our revenue base budget.  It will be used to partly offset the loss of 
income from sales, fees and charges, to manage the risk of the increased 
difficulty of delivering our key service financial recovery plans and also to 
support any potential increase in the local demand for additional social care 
services.

42



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 9 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

7.3 Most Vulnerable in Society Support (Allocation TBC) 

On 2 May, the Communities Secretary announced a £76m package of support 
for the most vulnerable in society, and a change to housing priority rules 
meaning that those facing homelessness as a result of fleeing domestic abuse 
will be considered priority cases. 

The £76m consists of: £10m from MHCLG for safe accommodation services, 
£26.4m from DfE to support vulnerable children (including disabled children, 
care leavers, and children in early years), £28m from MOJ of which £25m will 
help victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence to access support services 
and £3m funding Independent Sexual Violence Advisors (annually, until 2022), 
and £11.6m from the Home Office of which £3.8m will support community-
based domestic abuse and modern slavery support services and £7.8m to 
support charities helping vulnerable children.  The announcement does not 
provide information on how much funding will go to charities and how much will 
go direct to local authorities.

7.4 Test and Trace Service Support (Allocation TBC) 

On 22 May, an additional £300 million funding for local authorities to support a 
new test and trace service was announced. The funding is ring-fenced for the 
specific requirements to develop tailored outbreak control plans, working with 
local NHS and other stakeholders. Data on the virus’ spread will be shared 
with councils through the Joint Biosecurity Centre to inform local outbreak 
planning, so teams understand how the virus is moving, working with national 
government where necessary to access the testing and tracing capabilities of 
the new service. 

7.5 Reopening High Streets Safely Fund - £163,096 

On Sunday 24 May the government announced an additional £50m of funding 
for English local authorities to prepare for the reopening of non-essential retail. 
This funding is intended to support a range of practical safety measures 
including new signs, street markings and temporary barriers.  Local authorities 
will also be able to use this money to develop local marketing campaigns to 
explain the changes to the public and reassure them that their high streets and 
other commercial areas are safe.

8 Cashflow Support and Financial Planning Considerations 

8.1 The Government have also introduced a range of measures to either defer 
payments by Southend-on-Sea Borough Council to the Government to later in 
this financial year or to make payments to us earlier and more quickly to help 
with our liquidity and cashflow.  Examples of this include paying the value of 
business rates reliefs (£4,862,155) in advance.  Historically the Council would 
have paid out the reliefs and then had to wait to claim the value issued back 
from the Government.  They have also paid our ASC grant for 2020/21 and S31 
grants upfront and delayed our payments for business rates to the Treasury 
until later in the financial year.

43



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 10 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

8.2 The Government have now confirmed that the planned Fair Funding Review 
and 75% Business Rates Retention Scheme will NOT be implemented as 
planned in 2021/22.  It is still unclear at this stage whether a traditional three-
year Comprehensive Spending Review will take place in the Autumn of 2020 or 
now and probably more likely that the Government will decide to just focus on 
developing a single 2021/22 Financial Settlement for the Local Government 
Sector. 

8.3 A major concern will be that as the current year progresses, the lack of any 
clarity over the potential future level of available financial resources will add 
further significant complexities and challenges to our future business planning 
arrangements.

9 Business Rates, Council Tax and Housing Rents Collection Impact

9.1 Another area of major concern is the impact the crisis will have in terms of 
income collection and the potential increases in bad and doubtful debts across 
all our main income sources.  The Council has quite rightly prioritised support 
for local residents, tenants and businesses by not issuing any recovery 
documentation, no enforcement action by agents and no summons have been 
issued.  This moratorium has been put in place until the end of June 2020.  We 
have also effectively allowed the deferral of all rents from our commercial 
tenants for the first quarter of 2020/21. 

9.2 We are also experiencing significant increases in the number of Council Tax 
benefit claimants, additional numbers of tenants that are struggling to pay their 
rent and many businesses are approaching us for further/additional support 
including requesting payment holidays/deferred payments/writing off debt for 
historical rent and service charges etc.  We are responding to these requests on 
a case by case basis and following the national guidance where applicable. 

9.3 The following data has been compiled to present an initial comparison of 
collection activity from when the lockdown was first announced until 3rd May 
2020.  This comparable data is shown in the following tables, together with 
some initial supporting analysis and commentary.  The situation is under 
constant review and updated each week to establish key trends and underlying 
issues.

9.4 Business Rates - Collection

 

Sum 
Collected 

2019

Sum 
Collected 

2020

Number of 
Payments 

2019

Number of 
Payments 

2020
22nd March 2020 £279,547 £212,614 179 152
29th March 2020 £814,134 £271,262 353 197
5th April 2020 £3,130,511 £992,301 1,337 715
12th April 2020 £497,127 £307,560 427 164
19th April 2020 £153,672 £208,429 82 51
26th April 2020 £793,561 £245,070 454 114
3rd May 2020 £2,322,519 £965,267 1,385 610
Total £7,991,071 £3,202,503 4,217 2,003

44



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 11 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

The final two weeks in March saw a decrease in collection from £1,093,681 to 
£483,867.  A decrease of £609,805 (a reduction of 56%).  There was also a 
downturn in the number of payments received over this period but not to the 
same extent as the sum collected.

In April there has been a huge reduction in payments received from businesses 
and this has also been the case via Direct Debits, with many of the plans 
terminated in view of the announcement of the expanded retail rate relief 
scheme.  This will result in many businesses within the borough receiving a 
100% discount from rates for the whole of the 2020/21 financial year. 

Once the 100% relief for all eligible businesses is applied, we will have a better 
idea of the impact on Business rates collection because for the 100% relief 
granted we will in return get 100% funding of this through a S31 grant from 
Government.

In April, the payments received have decreased from £4,574,871 to £1,753,360. 
A reduction in financial terms of £2,821,511 (65%).  This trend has continued 
into May.  There has clearly been a reduction in actual collection (after an 
adjustment for the large amount of Business Rates support from the 
Government).  The situation will continue to be closely monitored.

9.5 Council Tax – Collection

 

Sum 
Collected 

2019

Sum 
Collected 

2020

Number of 
Payments 

2019

Number of 
Payments 

2020
22nd March 2020 £953,121 £858,013 6,245 6,131
29th March 2020 £1,117,042 £1,006,929 8,583 7,557
5th April 2020 £5,446,202 £5,714,512 42,863 42,049
12th April 2020 £1,102,889 £1,113,284 9,455 8,935
19th April 2020 £244,240 £216,217 1,913 1,790
26th April 2020 £2,211,392 £2,132,788 18,616 17,390
3rd May 2020 £5,322,190 £5,030,055 43,995 39,919
Total £16,397,076 £16,071,798 131,670 123,771

In the final two weeks of March 2020 there was a reduction in collection, 
approximately 10% each week.  The final two weeks in March saw a decrease 
in collection from £2,070,163 to £1,864,942.  A reduction of £205,221. 
Unsurprisingly there was also a corresponding downturn in the number of 
payments received over this period.

Within the first month of this financial year, collection has been at a steady rate, 
with an extra £172,078 collected (£9,176,802 in comparison to £9,004,723). 
Obviously with the increase in Council Tax approved – it needs to be 
highlighted that there is a higher level of Council Tax to collect in 2020/21.  At 
the expected collection rate for this time of the year, then it is probably more 
realistic to estimate that collection is around £600,000 less than anticipated. 

45



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 12 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

Around 2,700 households have agreed new payment plans, with the majority 
electing to defer payment for April and May and then spread the cost over the 
remaining 10 months of the financial year.  It will be important to see if there is a 
corresponding increase in the value collected from June 2020 onwards.

It is too early to form any definitive conclusion at this stage in the financial year. 
The tracking of payment activity will continue, and the situation will be closely 
monitored and updated regularly.  There are clearly early signs of an overall 
reduction in collection rates, which given the circumstances was expected.  The 
difficulty will be if this trend continues or deteriorates further in the coming 
weeks.

9.6 Housing Rents – Collection

 

Sum 
Collected 

2019

Sum 
Collected 

2020

Number of 
Payments 

2019

Number of 
Payments 

2020
22nd March 2020 £22,429 £37,333 190 218
29th March 2020 £37,185 £33,412 315 252
5th April 2020 £27,991 £38,945 237 264
12th April 2020 £26,986 £19,420 229 216
19th April 2020 £48,714 £25,708 413 249
26th April 2020 £30,515 £22,092 259 238
3rd May 2020 £45,853 £26,100 389 199
Total £239,673 £203,010 2,032 1,636

It is clear from the amount collected and the number of payments received that 
there has been a sizeable reduction in the level of rent collected, compared to 
the same period in 2019.  The level of housing rent was also increased from 
April 2020, so the actual collection should be around 2.7% higher than 
compared to the same period for 2019.

The 2,030 (33%) increase in eligible working age claimants highlighted in 
Section 6.3, will be a contributory factor and further work has commenced to 
understand the inter-relationships and working with tenants to better understand 
their individual circumstances.  No enforcement action has or will be undertaken 
in this first quarter.  This situation will be reviewed again before the end of June.

9.7 It is also far too early to assess the total potential cost to the Authority at this 
stage of additional bad and doubtful debts.  It is estimated that if there is a 1% 
overall increase in bad debt for Council Tax and Business Rates that needs to 
be written off, then that would be the equivalent of approximately a £1M loss.  
This is a very real additional risk to the financial health of the Council, and it will 
undoubtedly translate into a real cost – it is just impossible to estimate the scale 
of the impact at this time.

46



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 13 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

10 Local Impact on Sales, Fees and Charges Income

10.1 Southend-on-Sea Borough Council budgeted to receive around £34M in total 
from a range of other income sources in 2020/21.  A lot of this income could still 
be received in 2020/21 but the timing of when it might be received could be 
significantly delayed.  It is very difficult to determine how activity levels will 
fluctuate, reduce or in some cases even increase, particularly when lockdown 
measures are fully relaxed.  The impact of Covid-19 and the associated 
lockdown has had a dramatic immediate effect on some of our universal income 
areas such as car parking, leisure and tourism. 

10.2 We have currently suspended all financial assessments for Adult Social Care 
clients for services post hospital discharge.  The CCG have been given 
additional funding from the Government for this purpose and are currently 
picking up costs of all new related care packages for up to 12 weeks.  They will 
also be picking up care package costs associated with admission avoidance 
cases.  Individual client financial assessments will need to be introduced at the 
appropriate time for each individual case.  We are experiencing a loss of 
income from services that are currently not operating or from individual clients 
where a family member is temporarily providing care but we have committed to 
paying the provider to help with maintaining their viability during the crisis.

10.3 Depending on how long the lockdown continues for and then how long the 
gradual return to more normal activity levels takes, then it would not be 
unreasonable to estimate that we could easily lose and we have done so far 
around £1M a month and potentially significantly more during the summer 
months.  As with some of the expenditure pressures it is still too early to draw 
any definitive conclusions, with so many factors that could change over the 
coming weeks and months.  This is an area that will remain under intensive 
review over the coming weeks and careful consideration and assessment of the 
current profile of a range of income budgets will be undertaken.

10.4 Our approved income budget for sales, fees and charges profiled to the end of 
July 2020 was £11.598M.  The following pie chart illustrates the estimated 
impact on our income to this date. This assessment was included in our May 
return to MHCLG.

47



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 14 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

Estimated income Estimated loss

Income analysis to July 2020

10.5 There is also the potential impact of increasing bad and doubtful debts for a 
range of income that is not collected at point of sale or service delivery.  It is an 
area where we are undertaking further work and an update will be provided at a 
future meeting.

11 Local Impact on Major Projects and the Capital Investment Programme

11.1 Our ambition for delivery of key schemes has not diminished if anything our 
determination and desire to drive regeneration and growth has intensified. 
Realistically though Covid-19 has brought with it a whole additional set of new 
challenges.  There will inevitably be some delays in construction related 
projects.  Although Government advice is that construction activities should 
continue, works may be delayed due to the availability of labour, plant and 
materials and some contractors opting to cease activity for a period of time. 

11.2 There may also be additional cost pressures due to disruption of normal supply 
chains. Some projects require materials from overseas, so it is not just related 
to UK lockdown arrangements.  There is also the potential for additional costs to 
be incurred relating to re-tendering exercises.  Some seasonal dependent 
schemes may also miss their opportunity for completion.  Where possible works 
planned to operational buildings which are currently closed will be accelerated 
to minimise disruption when they re-open.  Re-prioritising, re-phasing and re-
sequencing will be essential to try and maintain momentum and minimise cost 
increases and delays.

48



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 15 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

11.3 The Council has been very innovative and creative in developing a variety of 
funding arrangements for some major schemes, to take advantage of external 
grant initiatives and to reduce the financial impact locally.  We are seeking 
reassurance from Government, that these often time limited grants, get suitable 
extensions for defrayment and completion. In most cases we are seeking 12-
month extensions, but we also have the added potential complexity of Brexit 
and what impact that could have on EU secured funds.  We will keep this under 
constant review.

12 Potential Future Demand and Currently Hidden Financial Challenges

12.1 Another major concern surrounds the possible future impact on key Adult and 
Children’s Services after restrictions are lifted that could lead to a major 
increase in demand caused by isolation, stress and pressure building up in 
family units, domestic violence, vulnerable adults, children etc. Services have 
been working hard to try and manage the spikes in demand that we were 
experiencing and reporting throughout 2019/20.  Recovery savings plans were 
in place to reduce demand and associated costs that are now at greater risk of 
non-delivery because of the uncertainty and pressure directly caused by the 
pandemic.

12.2 An area of immediate concern that we need to monitor is the potential impact of 
Covid-19 on the adult social care provider market.  Generally, care homes are 
based on around 90% occupancy levels, but some are now running closer to 
70%.  This is potentially damaging and unsustainable in terms of viability if 
occupancy levels remain this low or reduce further for an extended period.  This 
is an area which we need to keep under review and regularly assess the impact 
on provision across Southend-on-Sea.  Some of this concern may be mitigated 
by the Government’s announcement of £600M for an Infection Control Fund for 
Adult Social Care, as referenced at Section 6.5 and the support already 
provided to the Adult social care homes through the Covid-19 Emergency grant.

13 Tactical and Strategic Response to Managing the Financial Challenge

13.1 The Authority responded positively and quickly to the challenge that Covid-19 
brought to the Borough.  The tactical financial response is referenced in Section 
7.1 which outlined the series of initial ‘one-off’ investments that were made.  
The immediate priority was given to keeping local people and everyone 
connected with our Organisation safe.  The Authority mobilised support for 
residents and businesses and at incredible speed developed the capability for a 
large proportion of our workforce to continue to work safely and remotely.  

13.2 The Authority has also re-deployed staff to priority areas such as food and PPE 
distribution, community hubs and safety support, together with enabling 
processes for new requirements like business grants to be paid.  The Authority 
has not furloughed any staff, despite the challenges and reductions in income in 
certain service areas.

49



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 16 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

13.3 After the initial urgency of our response passed, more time has now been 
devoted to designing, preparing, and implementing our transition and 
restoration to whatever the new normal will look like.  The potential size of the 
financial challenge of Covid-19 for the Authority is summarised in Section 5.3 
and is currently estimated to be around £15M to the end of July 2020 and 
around £20M for 2020/21.  Our strategic response has been to try and reduce 
our financial exposure in lower priority areas, make sure we passport all new 
Government support to local businesses and residents as fast and as 
accurately as we can, fully deploy the circa £10.5M of emergency grant funding 
that we have already received and clearly evidence and lobby Central 
Government for additional resources.

13.4 There could still be around a £9.5M financial gap in 2020/21, based on our 
current range of estimates and assumptions.  We responded to the MHCLG 
request about potential use of our reserves in the May return.  We estimated 
that we could use £1M of our general balance (which would then reduce to 
£10M). We also estimated that up to £2M of our Corporate Earmarked 
Reserves could be used, which will effectively reduce our Business 
Transformation Reserve and our ability to respond to ‘invest to save’ 
opportunities and delay planned transformational projects.  We stressed that 
this could only be used on a short-term basis and that our reserves would need 
to be topped back up again in 2021/22. 

13.5 If no further resources were secured from Central Government and our current 
estimates over the size of the financial gap are realised, then we would have to 
look again at in-year service changes and our earmarked reserves to try and 
fund the difference.  This would be very challenging and have major 
repercussions for our future medium-term business planning, leading to some 
very difficult choices in terms of reducing our future cost base and ultimately our 
permanent local service range and offer. 

13.6 Our other clear strategic challenge back to Central Government was to give 
some urgent clarity over the estimated future levels of financial settlements for 
Southend-on-Sea and for the overall Local Government Sector.

14 Conclusion

14.1 This report summarises the level of Central Government support announced 
and received so far.  It also provides an insight into the potential financial impact 
of Covid-19 on Southend-on-Sea Borough Council.  This assessment is based 
on a huge amount of disparate information, together with a range of constantly 
developing assumptions.  From a financial planning perspective, it is very 
difficult to form accurate definitive conclusions with confidence at this early 
stage.  

50



Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19 Page 17 of 17 Report No: [number to be allocated]

14.2 The pandemic will clearly continue to have major financial implications for our 
residents, businesses, and the Council itself over the coming weeks and 
months.  Better and more informed intelligence will be gained each week and a 
greater understanding of potential future scenarios and outcomes will be 
established. It is proposed to bring updated reports to future Cabinet meetings.  
These will inform the deliberations of Cabinet and highlight with more 
confidence the potential financial impact on the Council for 2020/21 and the 
future.

14.3 We will continue to lobby Central Government with our other Essex local 
authorities for extra resources to both help with our local response but also the 
transition, preparation, and implementation of our restoration.  We are recording 
all our costs and measuring the impact on all our income budgets to provide 
appropriate evidence.  At some stage in the future it is hoped that this will help 
to form a fair financial compensation request to the Government.

14.4 Further work is also being undertaken to refine our understanding of what our 
estimated financial position will be in the longer term.  This is essential to revise 
our Medium Term Financial Strategy and to inform the Authority’s strategic 
response to maintain our financial sustainability and continue to strive to deliver 
better outcomes for our local residents, businesses and hopefully in the near 
future our visitors.  

15 Background Papers

Various Government Announcements relating to Covid-19
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 – 2024/25

51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 The Council's Response to COVID-19
	5 Initial Local Financial Assessment of Covid-19

